MINUTES OF THE SENATE LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMMITTEE

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Roger Reitz at 9:30 a.m. on February 15, 2010 in Room 144-S of the Capitol. Senator Kultala moved to accept the minutes of February 8th and 9th. Senator Marshall seconded the motion. The minutes were approved.

All members were present.

Committee staff present:

Mike Heim, Office of the Revisor of Statutes Sean Ostrow, Office of the Revisor of Statutes Martha Dorsey, Kansas Legislative Research Department Reed Holwegner, Kansas Legislative Research Department Noell Memmott, Committee Assistant

Conferees appearing before the Committee:

Randy Hearrell, Executive Director, Kansas Judicial Council
Senator Terrie Huntington
Representative Gene Rardin
Sylvia McCombs
Jerry Berg
Harry Bonet
William Reavis
Phillip Lytle
Carol Kleweno
Rod Hoffman

Others attending:

See attached list.

The hearing opened on SB 470 - Kansas uniform common interest owners bill of rights.

Martha Dorsey, Legislative Research, reviewed the bill, explained the purpose, and noted the differences between **SB 470** and **HB 2253**.

Randy Hearrell, Executive Director, Kansas Judicial Council, gave background on the bill (<u>Attachment 1</u>) and explained the Report of the Judicial Council (<u>Attachment 2</u>).

Senator Terrie Huntington spoke in favor of the bill. She believes the bill would remind the Boards of Directors of Homes Associations that there are rules and procedures to follow, that adherence to bylaws is mandatory, that citizens have a voice in the establishment of the rules and regulations under which they must abide, that financial statements are the property of the Homes Association members, and as such, they can be viewed and/or copied, upon request (Attachment 3).

Representative Gene Rardin, testified in favor of the bill (<u>Attachment 4</u>). He stressed the need for structure and proper and efficient management.

Sylvia McCombs, Resident, Cedar Lakes Village, spoke in favor of the bill (Attachment 5).

Jerry Berg, Resident, Cedar Lakes Village, testified in favor of the bill (Attachment 6).

Harry Bonet, Resident, Cedar Lakes Village, spoke in favor of the bill (Attachment 7).

William Reavis, Resident, Quivira Falls Community Association, testified in favor of the bill (Attachment 8).

Phillip Lytle, Owner, Quivira Falls Community Association, spoke in favor of the bill (Attachment 9).

Carol Kleweno, Resident, Willowbrooke Villas, testified in favor of the bill (Attachment 10).

Rod Hoffman, Attorney, Slagle, Bernard, and Gorman, gave neutral testimony (<u>Attachment 11</u>). He voiced the following concerns: the bill is untested; just because it is law does not make it good or necessary; all homeowners in every community association now have the right to vote and there is no estimate on how many Kansans this will affect.

The hearing will be continued at the next Tuesday, February 16th.

The meeting was adjourned at 10:52 a.m.



LOCAL GOVERNMENT GUEST LIST

DATE: Jebnier 15, 2010

NAME	REPRESENTING
Bill Reavis Ruch Heanell	self - Quivivatals, O.P.KS
P. L. HSETLAND	Induced Council
	SELF - PTCA
JIM PARKER	2 H.O. ASSNS.
Nathan Eberline	LKM
JERRY BERL	CBPMI CLUCA SELF
Sylva MC Combs	Cedarlakes_wichter
Julyn	self.
My Lufte	5c4F
Rodtalin	Solf
JASON BURGESS	CURRY Mami
CHRISTING LENTS	,,
Gila Lidings	Self
Carol Klewers	solf
HARRY BONET	CLVCA - WICHITA



KANSAS JUDICIAL COUNCIL

JUSTICE LAWTON R. NUSS, CHAIR, SALINA
JUDGE JERRY G. ELLIOTT, WICHITA
JUDGE ROBERT J. FLEMING, PARSONS
JUDGE JEAN F. SHEPHERD, LAWRENCE
SEN. THOMAS C. (TIM) OWENS, OVERLAND PARK
REP. LANCE Y. KINZER, OLATHE
J. NICK BADGEROW, OVERLAND PARK
GERALD L. GOODELL, TOPEKA
JOSEPH W. JETER, HAYS
STEPHEN E. ROBISON, WICHITA

Kansas Judicial Center 301 S.W. Tenth Street, Suite 140 Topeka, Kansas 66612-1507

Telephone (785) 296-2498 Facsimile (785) 296-1035

judicial.council@ksjc.state.ks.us www.kansasjudicialcouncil.org EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
RANDY M. HEARRELL
STAFF ATTORNEYS
NANCY J. STROUSE
CHRISTY R. MOLZEN
NATALIE F. GIBSON
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANTS
JANELLE L. WILLIAMS
MARIAN L. CLINKENBEARD
BRANDY M. WHEELER

MEMORANDUM

TO:

Senate Local Government Committee

FROM:

Kansas Judicial Council - Randy M. Hearrell

DATE:

February 15, 2010

RE:

Judicial Council Testimony on 2010 SB 470 Relating to the

Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act

In June 2009 House Local Government Chair Schwartz requested that the Judicial Council study 2009 HB 2253 relating to homeowners' associations. The Judicial Council accepted the assignment and appointed an advisory committee of experienced persons including the president of a homeowners' association, a resident of a condominium community, a realtor, a developer, a representative of a title company, a property manager, a state representative, a state senator, a district judge, an Assistant Attorney General, an attorney and a law professor. A list of the Committee members is included at the end of this testimony.

The Committee met four times in the summer and fall of 2009 and concluded that House Bill 2253 did not provide comprehensive and balanced solutions to issues that cause problems or tensions among common interest communities. It was the opinion of the Committee that this was likely because the bill was initially drafted in response to specific problems at a small number of common interest communities.

The Committee heard objections to several subjects contained in the bill, including mandatory audits, rights of lessees, secrets ballots, mediation, and the role of the Attorney General's Office. It was the opinion of the Committee that provisions relating to these subjects were unnecessary because a large number of associations were not experiencing problems in these areas. The Committee also found that some provisions of HB 2253 were not balanced in their treatment of unit owner/board issues.

Senate Local G	Sovernment	
2-15-2010		
Attachment		

After review of legislation of other states, the Committee turned its attention to consideration of legislation prepared by the Uniform Law Commissioners, specifically the 2008 Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act (UCIOBORA). After reviewing the UCIOBORA, the Committee unanimously selected it as a platform for the legislation that it now recommends. The principal reason it was chosen over HB 2253 is that the UCIOBORA is both more comprehensive in scope and more balanced in treatment of possible management/ownership flashpoints than HB 2253. The Committee found that almost every provision of UCIOBORA is written in plain English that can be read and understood by board members, unit owners and interested parties, whether or not they are legally trained. After deciding that the UCIOBORA would be the basis for legislation recommended by the Committee, the Committee made several amendments to adapt it for use in Kansas.

The following is a summary of the highlights of the proposed legislation:

- The bill seeks to address critical aspects of association governance, with focus on the relationship between the association and its individual members.
- A statement of the public purposes of the act is included (Section 1).
- The act contains a section defining the terms used in the act (Section 2).
- The act is mandatory, with a few exceptions specifically noted in the act. The act imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance and enforcement and applies to all common interest communities containing twelve or more units (Sections 3, 4, 5 & 6).
- The powers and duties of the unit owners (Section 8) and the board of directors (Section 9) are described. The power to borrow money was added to the proposed act by the drafting Committee as one of the powers of the association (Section 8 (d)).
- The bill includes:

```
treatment of the association bylaws (Section 10);
meetings of the unit owners (Section 11);
meetings of the board of directors (Section 12);
quorums (Section 13);
voting procedures (Section 14);
record keeping and maintenance of records (Section 15);
rules and rule making (Section 16);
requirements relating to notice (Section 17);
```

removal of officers and directors (Section 18);

adoption of budgets and special assessments (Section 19);

sections relating to the effect of the violation of the rights of action (Section 20); and

general statements that are included in all uniform laws relating to conflicts with other state laws, application of the act and the act's interaction with the Federal Electronics Signatures Global and National Commerce Act (Sections 21, 22, & 23).

- The act also amends K.S.A. 58-3119 and K.S.A. 58-3120 to conform those sections of the Kansas Apartments Owners Act and repeals K.S.A. 59-3830, because it is fully covered in the act (Sections 24, 25, & 26).
- The bill includes an effective date of January 1, 2011, to allow time to make any necessary changes in bylaws or covenants and to allow time for education programs for boards and developers (Section 27).

The latest information from the Community Associations Institute indicates that at the end of 2009, there were an estimated 305,400 association-governed communities with 24.4 million housing units and 60.1 million residents. While Kansas does not have as many of these communities as states such as California, Arizona, Nevada and Florida, there are a significant number of these communities in Kansas, and in the last few years there have been a number of issues relating to such communities brought to the legislature.

It is the opinion of the Committee and the Judicial Council that enactment of the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act (SB 470) will clarify the rights and duties of unit owners and associations and provide for the effective operation of these communities in the interest of the owners and their residents. The act also addresses current and potential areas of conflict and tension between the unit owners and associations' boards and managers in a comprehensive and balanced manner.

No legislation will avoid all conflict, but the Judicial Council recommends that adoption of the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act is an appropriate and important state policy.

Committee Members

Hon. Robert J. Fleming, Chair, Parsons, District Judge in 11th Judicial District and member of the Kansas Judicial Council.

Emilie Burdette, Topeka, Assistant Attorney General in the Consumer Protection and Antitrust Division.

Professor Michael J. Davis, Lake Quivira, property law professor and former Dean of the Kansas University School of Law.

Gerald L. Goodell, Topeka, attorney and member of the Kansas Judicial Council.

Robert L. Hjetland, Topeka, president of homeowners association.

Rep. Terrie Huntington, Fairway, State Representative from the 25th House District.

Jeanette Johnson, Topeka, realtor and former President of the Kansas Association of Realtors.

Senator Julia Lynn, Olathe, State Senator from the 9th Senate District.

LewJene Schneider, Maize, attorney and developer.

Hayden St. John, Topeka, President of Lawyers Title of Topeka.

C.J. Sullivan, Overland Park, librarian, elder advocate, and townhome resident.

Maggie Warren, Topeka, President, Wheatland Property Management, Inc.

REPORT OF THE JUDICIAL COUNCIL HOMEOWNERS' ASSOCIATION ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON 2009 HB 2253

STUDY AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

At its June 2009 meeting, the Kansas Judicial Council agreed to undertake a study of 2009 House Bill 2253 concerning homeowners' associations and associations of apartment owners. The request for the study came from Representative Sharon J. Schwartz, Chair of the House Local Government Committee. A copy of Rep. Schwartz's letter requesting the study is attached to this report beginning at page 9.

The Judicial Council appointed a new committee with members who have a wide variety of experiences relating to common interest communities to conduct the study of HB 2253. The members of the Judicial Council Homeowners' Association Advisory Committee who participated in the study are:

Hon. Robert J. Fleming, Chair, Parsons, District Judge in 11th Judicial District and member of the Kansas Judicial Council.

Emilie Burdette, Topeka, Assistant Attorney General in the Consumer Protection and Antitrust Division.

Professor Michael J. Davis, Lake Quivira, property law professor and former Dean of the Kansas University School of Law.

Gerald L. Goodell, Topeka, attorney and member of the Kansas Judicial Council.

Robert L. Hjetland, Topeka, president of homeowners association.

Rep. Terrie Huntington, Fairway, State Representative from the 25th House District.

Jeanette Johnson, Topeka, realtor and former President of the Kansas Association of Realtors.

Senator Julia Lynn, Olathe, State Senator from the 9th Senate District.

LewJene Schneider, Maize, attorney and developer.

Hayden St. John, Topeka, President of Lawyers Title of Topeka.

C. J. Sullivan, Overland Park, librarian, elder advocate, and townhome resident.

Maggie Warren, Topeka, President, Wheatland Property Management, Inc.

SCOPE AND METHOD OF STUDY

The scope of the Committee's work was to review 2009 HB 2253, recommend whether or not the bill should be enacted and, if not, recommend what action should be taken. The Committee met four times beginning in July of 2009 and concluded its meetings in November 2009. In undertaking its assignment, the Committee:

• Reviewed 2009 House Bill 2253, including the bill summary, the fiscal note, and the testimony that was presented to the House Committee on Local Government when hearings were held on the bill.

Senate Local Government		
2-15.2010		
Attachment	۸	

- Reviewed current Kansas statutes that relate to the area of the study.
- Considered other recently introduced legislation relating to homeowners associations.
- Studied the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (including the 2008 amendments) and the 2008 Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act both of which have been recommended for enactment by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws.
- Devoted one entire meeting to the discussion of issues relating to common interest communities and related uniform acts with Professor William R. Breetz of the University of Connecticut School of Law. Professor Breetz has served on Uniform Law Commission committees studying issues relating to common interest communities for 24 years, including serving as Reporter for the Uniform Law Commission's committees that drafted the Uniform Condominium Act, the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act and the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act
- Considered articles on the subject of common interest communities.
- Considered correspondence and suggestions from unit owners, board members and attorneys.
- Received input from the committee's staff which had gathered and reviewed statutes relating to the study from a number of states.

BACKGROUND

The concept of community associations is not new and can be traced back to the 1800's. However, use of this type of ownership was fairly limited until the early 1960's when the Federal Housing Administration began providing mortgage insurance and Chicago Title and Trust began offering title insurance for condominiums.¹

Over the past several decades the number of association-governed communities has grown tremendously. The Community Association Institute (CAI), a national educational organization and business trade group for community associations, estimated that in 1970 there were 10,000 association-governed communities with 701,000 housing units and 2.1 million residents. In 2008

Wayne S. Hyatt, Condominium and Homeowner Practice: Community Association Law (Third Edition) §1.05(b) at 11(2000).

the CAI estimated there were 300,800 association - governed communities with 24.1 million housing units and 59.5 million residents.²

In November of 2007, Zogby International conducted a national representative study of community association residents. Among the findings of the survey were: 71% rate their overall community experience as positive and 9% expressed discontent; 88% said their community association board members strive to serve the best interests of the community as a whole; and 77% of community association residents are pleased with the return they get on their community association assessments.³

Even though there were a small percentage of persons who expressed dissatisfaction with their community association experiences, given the large number of persons who reside in communities with associations, this is a significant number.

In the Prefatory Note and Summary to the 2008 Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act (UCIOBORA) the drafting Committee recognized that this dissatisfication exists:

"Despite the many years of drafting efforts beginning in 1976 with The Uniform Condominium Act and culminating in the 1994 amendments to UCIOA, it had become increasingly clear by the time the Drafting Committee was created in 2005 that major tensions remained in the Common Interest Community field that neither UCIOA or any of its constituent Acts - nor most State statutes in this field - adequately addressed. Those tensions principally involved the perception that individual unit owners were often unduly disadvantaged in their dealings with the elected directors and employee/managers of unit owner associations.

Even in those few states that had adopted UCIOA more or less intact, and therefore were able to apply the detailed provisions of that Act to association activities, there has been a growing focus, both in the media and in professional conferences, on the intensity of owner/association disputes. State legislators were besieged with lobbying efforts to adopt narrowly focused special interest statutes intended to fix one or another association 'problem'."⁴

While the Kansas Legislature has not been "besieged by lobbying efforts . . ." as described in the prefatory note to the UCIOBORA, the issue of homeowners' associations and their governance

² "Industry Data - National Statistics". Community Associations Institute. http://www.caionline.org (last visited October 25, 2009).

³ Zogby International, Foundation for Community Research Tracking Poll (November 2007).

⁴ Prefatory Note and Summary to Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act (2008) available at website of the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (www.nccusl.org).

has been considered by the Legislature in one form or another since the 2006 Legislative Session. In 2006, House Bill 2582 was introduced concerning discrimination and corresponding restrictive covenants. By the time the bill was finally passed, it had become a broader act concerning homeowners' associations. Section 1 of 2006 HB 2582, which became K.S.A. 44-1017a, is the statute that prohibits discriminatory restrictive covenants. Section 2 of the bill, which became K.S.A. 58-3830, requires a homeowners' association to open all meetings of the association board to all homeowners, adopt a budget, and make a copy of the budget available to any association member who requests it.

During the 2007-2008 biennium, the following bills were introduced concerning homeowners' associations, none of which were enacted: House Bill 2445, which would have imposed certain duties upon homeowners' associations; Substitute for House Bill 2826, which concerned dispute resolution for homeowners' associations and would have imposed certain duties upon the Attorney General; House Bill 2837, which also concerned dispute resolution for homeowners' associations and would have imposed certain duties upon the Attorney General; Senate Bill 609, which would have enacted the Homeowners' Association Dispute Resolution Act. In 2009, House Bill 2253, which is the subject of the current study, was introduced.⁵

REVIEW AND FINDINGS RELATING TO HB 2253

In reviewing 2009 HB 2253. The Committee found that HB 2253 does not provide comprehensive and balanced solutions to issues that cause problems or tensions in common interest communities. This is likely because the bill was initially drafted in response to specific problems at a small number of common interest communities. A copy of the bill is attached to this report beginning at page 11 and a summary of the bill is attached beginning at page 17.

During the Committee's review of HB 2253 there were objections raised about several subjects contained in the bill. The objections related to audits, rights of lessees, secret ballots, mediation, and the role of the attorney general's office. The opinion was expressed that provisions relating to these subjects were unnecessary because a large majority of associations are not experiencing problems in these areas. The Committee also found some of the requirements of HB 2253 to be one-sided. An example is in the area of mediation where mediation is mandatory if requested by the unit owner, but optional if requested by the association, and the costs are not divided equally. The Committee does support the concepts contained in the bill relating to open meetings, open records, notice, and a clarification of matters that may be considered in executive sessions.

One of the issues raised about HB 2253 was whether portions of the bill duplicated or conflicted with current law. The Committee did not consider this to be a problem because, while enacting HB 2253 would have required reconciliation with K.S.A. 58-3830 relating to open meetings and budgets, and possible amendments to the Apartment Ownership Act (K.S.A. 58-3101 et. seq),

⁵ Kansas Legislative Research Department, Description of recent legislation efforts in the area of common interest communities provided as attachment to Representative Schwartz's letter of July 29, 2009, requesting Judicial Council study of 2009 HB 2253.

similar amendments will need to be made if the UCIOBORA or any other related legislation is adopted.

A question was raised as to the advisability of making any legislation applicable to only homeowners' associations of a certain size. This issue is resolved because the UCIOBORA, which the Committee recommends adopting, applies only to common interest communities that contain 12 or more units that may be used for residential purposes.

UNIFORM COMMON INTEREST OWNERS BILL OF RIGHTS ACT

After deciding not to recommend adoption of HB 2253, the Committee considered other acts that could serve as a model for Kansas legislation. The Committee's staff compiled and reviewed acts from a number of states, the 2008 version of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA) and the 2008 Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act (UCIOBORA).

The Committee was aware that the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (NCCUSL), now 118 years old, provides states with non-partisan, well-conceived and well-drafted legislation that brings clarity and stability to critical areas of the law.⁶ (A page from the introductory materials to the UCIOA listing the advantages of uniform acts is titled "About ULC" and included in this report at page 19.) The Committee decided to review the UCIOA and the UCIOBORA to see if either of the uniform acts would be the best choice to serve as a model for Kansas legislation.

The Committee first considered the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA), which was drafted in 1982 and amended in 1994 and 2008, as the model for Kansas legislation. After reviewing the UCIOA, the Committee concluded that the act is so large and detailed (as printed from the Uniform Law Commissioner's website, with comments, it is 267 pages in length) that there was not enough time for the Committee to conduct a comprehensive study, adapt the act for use in Kansas and report to the 2010 Legislature. In addition, in the Prefatory Note and Summary to the UCIOBORA, the Uniform Law Commissioners state it will often not be feasible to enact the UCIOA in states that have not adopted a previous version of the act because introduction of the act will likely engage stakeholders who are inclined to resist the more comprehensive act.

The Committee next considered the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act (UCIOBORA). In the Prefatory Notes to the UCIOBORA, the Uniform Law Commissioners state that the free-standing and relatively short UCIOBORA addresses all of the "association versus unit owner" issues touched on during the drafting of the 2008 amendments to the UCIOA. Because those are the types of issues that were the basis for HB 2253, it was the consensus of the Committee that it should review the UCIOBORA to determine if it is the appropriate model for Kansas legislation.

After reviewing the UCIOBORA, the Committee unanimously selected it as the platform for the legislation it now recommends. The principal reason it was chosen over HB 2253 is that the

⁶ Description of mission of Uniform Law Commission available at website of National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (www.nccusl.org).

UCIOBORA is both more comprehensive in scope and more balanced in its treatment of possible management/ownership flashpoints than HB 2253. The principal reason it was chosen over the OCIOA is that UCIOBORA is both shorter and, especially, far more accessible to ordinary citizens than the older uniform act. Indeed, almost every provision of the UCIOBORA is written in plain English that can be read and understood by board members, unit owners, and other interested parties whether or not they are legally trained.

The Committee next studied the UCIOBORA and made amendments to adapt it to Kansas. A copy of the UCIOBORA, with the amendments made by the Committee shown in underscoring and strike type, with Kansas comments discussing the amendments, and with the comments of Uniform Law Commissioners, is included with this report beginning at page 21.

AMENDMENTS TO UCIOBORA CONSIDERED BUT REJECTED

Although the Committee recommends adoption of the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act, there were several issues that were a part of HB 2253, but were not amended into the act. Those issues are:

Mediation. Section 6 of HB 2253 relates to mediation. The Committee heard numerous objections to the section and did not add a section relating to mediation to the UCIOBORA. The Committee is of the opinion that the rights conferred to unit owners by the UCIOBORA will reduce the need for mediation, and if some form of alternative dispute resolution is necessary it is available under Sections 8 and 21 of the act.

Mandatory audits. Section 2(h) of HB 2253 requires mandatory yearly audits. The Committee found more opposition to this section than any other due to the expense it would cause small associations and those with no bookkeeping issues. It is the Committee's opinion that the greater access to budget and other association information available under UCIOBORA lessens the need for mandatory audits.

<u>Lessees as persons with significant rights</u>. It is the opinion of the Committee that the treatment by the UCIOBORA of unit owners (and not lessees) as persons having significant rights is appropriate.

Secret ballot. Section 2(b) of HB 2253 requires elections for the board of directors be conducted by secret ballot. The UCIOBORA allows the selection of voting methods from a number of options, which include secret ballot.

Role of Attorney General. HB 2253 prescribes a number of functions and duties for the Attorney General. The Committee did not amend the UCIOBORA to include the sections relating to the Attorney General for a number of reasons including the following: common interest communities are based on contracts between two private parties; the Consumer Protection Act does not generally apply to common interest communities; and the cost of providing the Attorney General with staff to perform

the duties assigned to it under HB 2253 would require a budget increase that would make the bill difficult to pass in this economic climate.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee recommends that 2009 HB 2253 not be passed, and instead that the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act, as amended by the Judicial Council Homeowners' Association Advisory Committee, be passed.

STATE OF KANSAS HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

SHARON J. SCHWARTZ 2051 20th Road Washington, Kansas 66968 (785) 325-2568 sharon.schwartz@house.ks.gov



State Representative 106th District State Capitol, Room 161 West Topeka, Kansas 66612 (785) 296-7637

CHAIR
Local Government Committee
Select KPERS Committee

June 29, 2009

Mr. Randy Hearrell, Executive Director Kansas Judicial Council 301 S.W. 10th Street, Suite 140 Topeka, KS 66612-1507

Dear Mr. Hearrell:

In 2009, the House Committee on Local Government introduced, held a hearing on, and amended HB 2253. In its motion to amend the bill, the Committee referred it to the Judicial Council for further study instead of referring it to the House Committee of the Whole for consideration. This letter is to make a formal request of the Judicial Council to study the bill.

I have provided a summary of the bill as well as some additional background (see attached). I would appreciate your focus on the following issues:

- Whether HB 2253 as drafted would resolve the problems it is intended to resolve without creating unintended consequences that would be problematic;
- Whether portions of HB 2253 duplicate or conflict with current law;
- Whether the bill's provisions would cause problems for existing homeowner's associations that are working well;
- The advisability of passing legislation applicable only to homeowner's associations of a certain size, i.e., the largest ones;
- The necessity or advisability of changing current law that would allow for conflict resolution (between associations and their members) without adding a great deal of additional regulation; and
- Whether other states have passed relevant laws that might be a model for the Kansas Legislature to consider.

Thank you for your much-needed assistance with this topic. I look forward to hearing from you in time for our next legislative session.

Sincerely,

Representative Sharon Schwartz, Chairperson House Committee on Local Government

Enclosure .

Session of 2009

HOUSE BILL No. 2253

By Committee on Local Government

2-4

AN ACT concerning homeowners' associations and associations of apartment owners; relating to certain duties, required procedures, attorney fees, dispute resolution and duties of the attorney general.

12 14

15

16

17

19

20

21

22

24

25

26

27

31

32

33

34

35

37

38

40

41

10

11

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Kansas:

Section 1. (a) For the purposes of this act:

"Act" means the homeowners' association act.

"Dispute" means a disagreement regarding the rights or obligations of the homeowners' association or the home owners, apartment owners or residents.

(3) "Homeowners' association" means a for-profit homeowners' association, a non-profit homeowners' association as defined in K.S.A. 60-3611, and amendments thereto, and an association of apartment owners as defined in K.S.A. 58-3102, and amendments thereto.

(4) "Mediation" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in K.S.A. 5-502(f), and amendments thereto.

(5) "Resident" means a real property owner or lessee whose property is subject to the jurisdiction of a non-profit homeowners' association as defined in K.S.A. 60-3611, and amendments thereto. The term shall not include persons renting or leasing a home, apartment or condominium unit subject to the authority of a for-profit homeowners' association or an association of apartment owners.

(b) Sections 1 through 6, and amendments thereto, shall be known and may be cited as the homeowners' association act.

Sec. 2. The governing board of a homeowners' association, hereinafter referred to as the board of directors, is subject to the following:

(a) The board of directors may amend the by-laws of the association only upon approval of a majority of homeowners, apartment owners or residents voting in person, by proxy or by absentee ballot at a duly-noticed and duly-constituted homeowners, apartment owners or residents meeting.

(b) All elections for the membership on the board of directors shall be by secret ballot and conducted in a manner to assure the integrity of 42 the election process.

- (c) All meetings of the board of directors shall be open to all homeowners, apartment owners or residents of a homeowners' association. The board of directors shall not meet in closed executive session unless it is in consultation with its attorneys about matters properly a part of the attorney-client relationship or if it involves personnel matters or personal matters between the board of directors and the homeowner, apartment owner or resident of a confidential nature.
- (d) The board of directors, at least 30 days before adopting any proposed assessments, special charges or fees of general application, shall give in writing to the homeowners, apartment owners or residents, full disclosure concerning any proposed assessments, special charges or fees of general application. All homeowners, apartment owners or residents shall be given the opportunity to comment on such proposals. Assessments, charges and fees shall be equitable and proportionate to the respective interests of the homeowners, apartment owners or residents.
- (e) The board of directors, during reasonable business hours, shall provide a homeowner, apartment owner or resident access, at no cost, to the homeowner's association records, including, but not limited to, minutes of meetings, budget and financial records, all bills from utility companies, suppliers, contractors, bill payments, tax filings, audits, reimbursements to board members and homeowners, apartment owners or residents, attorney bills and any other statements where checks are being disbursed for payment.
- (f) The board of directors shall provide a homeowner, apartment owner or resident with copies of association records, including minutes of meetings, budget and financial records no later than 10 business days following the receipt of a written request by a homeowner, apartment owner or resident of the homeowner's association. The cost to the homeowner, apartment owner or resident requesting such copies should not exceed the reasonable and prevailing commercial duplication costs for copying.
- (g) The Upon written request, the board of directors shall provide a prospective homeowner, apartment owner or resident, at no cost, a copy of the homeowners' association by-laws.
- (h) The board of directors shall cause an annual audit of the homeowners' association's receipts and expenditures to be made by a certified public accountant. Such audit shall be based upon the expenditures and receipts occurring during a calendar year or the homeowners' association tax year if different from a calendar year and shall be made at the expense of the homeowners' association. A copy of such audit shall be made available to any member of the homeowners' association upon receipt of a written request from such member. The homeowners' association shall also file a

copy of such audit with the attorney general within 30 days after receipt thereof.

- Sec. 3. Within 60 days of the effective date of this act, a homeowners' association shall adopt procedures to implement the following:
- (a) The selection of one board member and two nonboard members who are homeowners, apartment owners or residents of the homeowners' association to receive and tally the ballots cast for the election of members of the board of directors, to verify the number of votes received against the number of persons voting and proxies voted and to report the results to the board of directors and for publication of the results to the homeowners, apartment owners or residents of such homeowners' association;
- (b) provide homeowners, apartment owners or residents information concerning their rights under this act; and
- (c) provide a homeowner, apartment owner or resident with a list of all the homeowners, apartment owners or residents in the association along with their current mailing addresses, no later than 10 business days following the receipt of a written request by a homeowner, apartment owner or resident.
- Sec. 4. Each resident shall have the right to attend any regular or special meeting of the board of directors of the homeowners' association or any regular or special meeting of the homeowners' association. At any such meeting, the resident shall be entitled to speak on any issue discussed at such meeting regardless of whether or not such resident's dues or assessments are delinquent at the time of such meeting.
- Sec. 4: 5. In a civil action by a homeowner, apartment owner or resident against a homeowners' association, should the plaintiff homeowner, apartment owner or resident substantially prevail or the homeowners' association be found to be substantially unjust in its actions, the court shall may award such homeowner, apartment owner or resident actual costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees.
- Sec. 5. 6. (a) Upon the written request of any homeowner, apartment owner or resident, a homeowners' association shall participate in mediation of a dispute. A homeowners' association shall make a written request for mediation with a homeowner, apartment owner or resident when a dispute arises. The homeowner's, apartment owner's or resident's participation in mediation shall be optional.
- (b) If the parties agree to mediation, a mediator shall be appointed by mutual agreement of the homeowners' association and the homeowner, apartment owner or resident within 60 days of the written request.
- (c) Prospective mediators shall be required to disclose to the parties the mediator's education, training, relevant experience and professional

5

9 10

12

13

14 15

16 17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

29

30

31

33

34

35

39

40

and community affiliations, the names of any participants in mediation conducted by the mediator who are willing to act as references and any possible conflicts of interest.

- (d) If the parties cannot agree upon the selection of a mediator, a mediator shall be designated by the attorney general.
- (e) Mediation shall not exceed two hours in duration unless the parties agree to a longer period. Costs of the mediation shall be paid 3/2 by the homeowners' association and 1/3 by the homeowner, apartment owner
- (f) Parties at their own expense may be assisted by legal counsel at 11 the mediation.
 - (g) The terms of any settlement agreement shall be open to disclosure to any homeowner, apartment owner or resident.
 - (h) The attorney general shall maintain a list of qualified mediators for purposes of this act.
 - (i) The provisions of this section shall not apply to any homeowners' association with an annual budget less than \$100,000 unless the homeowners' association opts in to the provisions of this section.
 - Sec. 6: 7. (a) The attorney general shall develop written educational materials and a website with an interactive question-and-answer feature for the purpose of providing guidance to homeowners' associations and their homeowners, apartment owners or residents regarding best practices of corporate governance including the following:
 - (1) Election procedures including secret ballots, absentee ballots, proxies and election monitoring procedures;
 - appropriateness of executive sessions during board meetings;
 - (3) necessity for providing advance notice to homeowners, apartment owners or residents prior to board consideration of certain matters;
 - (4) prompt disclosure of board minutes to homeowners, apartment owners or residents; .
 - (5) necessity for providing access to homeowners, apartment owners or residents to association records and appropriate copying costs;
 - appropriate procedures for the approval of amendments to bylaws;
 - (7) conflict of interest rules covering directors, officers, employees and committee members in connection with homeowners' association business and homeowner's, apartment owner's or resident's concerns;
 - (8) appropriate rules regarding the possible shifting of legal costs to and among homeowners, apartment owners or residents, directors personally and homeowners' associations;
 - (9) appropriate utilization of mediation procedures; and
- 41 42 (10) other matters deemed to be important in the overall governance and operation of a homeowners' association.

HB 2253-Am.

5

1 (b) Homeowners' associations shall notify their homeowners, apartment owners or residents of the availability of this information and the website no later than the next annual meeting following the effective date of this act.

Sec. 7.8. This act shall take effect and be in force from and after its publication in the Kansas register.

SUMMARY OF AMENDED BILL AND REFERRAL TO THE JUDICIAL COUNCIL

HB 2253, if enacted, would establish the Homeowners' Association Act. The bill addresses a number of issues including, though not limited to, the following:

- Board decisions, elections, management and meetings:
 - Require approval of a majority of homeowners, apartment owners or residents (hereinafter referred to as association members or members) voting to approve any amendment to association bylaws;
 - Require all board membership elections to be by secret ballot;
 - Require all board meetings to be open to all members, with limited access to executive session meetings;
 - Require the board to give at least 30 days' notice before adopting or increasing any fees, and require members be given the opportunity to comment on the fees;
 - Require members be granted access, at no cost, to a broad array of association records, or a copy of certain records at minimal cost;
 - Require prospective members be given a copy of the association bylaws upon request and at no cost;
 - Require the board to conduct an annual audit of the association's receipts and expenditures;
 and
 - Grant each resident the right to attend any regular or special board meeting, along with the right to speak at the meeting regardless of whether the resident's dues or assessments are delinquent at the time.

Civil action:

- O Allow the court to award a member actual costs and expenses, including attorney fees, in a civil action by a member against an association if the member substantially prevails or the association is found to be substantially unjust in its actions.
- Dispute mediation:
 - Require the board to participate in dispute mediation upon request of any member. The member's participation would be optional;
 - Require the Attorney General to designate a mediator if the parties cannot agree upon one;
 and
 - o Exempt associations with an annual budget of less than \$100,000 unless the association chooses to abide by the dispute mediation section of the bill.

- Educational materials and website:
 - Require the Attorney General to develop written educational materials and a website with an
 interactive question-and-answer feature to provide guidance to homeowner's associations
 and their members regarding best practices of corporate governance including a named list
 of subjects; and
 - Require associations to notify their members of the availability of this information no later than the next annual meeting following the effective date of the act.

At the hearing, testimony was received from members of one association, in which a number of serious allegations were alleged against the association board. According to the testimony, no accounting was made of the fees collected and what was done with the money. Also, several members' homes were reportedly falling into disrepair with respect to services that allegedly were the responsibility of the association.

While expressing sympathy for the association members who testified, Committee members mentioned their concerns regarding whether HB 2253 as drafted would resolve the problems it is intended to resolve, and whether portions of the bill were duplicative of, or in conflict with, current law.

The Committee then moved to amend the bill (see attached amended legislation) and refer it to the Judicial Council for further study.

ABOUT ULC

The Uniform Law Commission (ULC), also known as National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (NCCUSL), now in its 117th year, provides states with non-partisan, well-conceived and well-drafted legislation that brings clarity and stability to critical areas of state statutory law.

ULC members must be lawyers, qualified to practice law. They are practicing lawyers, judges, legislators and legislative staff and law professors, who have been appointed by state governments as well as the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands to research, draft and promote enactment of uniform state laws in areas of state law where uniformity is desirable and practical.

- ULC strengthens the federal system by providing rules and procedures that are consistent from state to state but that also reflect the diverse experience of the states.
- ULC statutes are representative of state experience, because the organization is made up of representatives from each state, appointed by state government.
- ULC keeps state law up-to-date by addressing important and timely legal issues.
- ULC's efforts reduce the need for individuals and businesses to deal with different laws as they move and do business in different states.
- ULC's work facilitates economic development and provides a legal platform for foreign entities to deal with U.S. citizens and businesses.
- Uniform Law Commissioners donate thousands of hours of their time and legal and drafting expertise every year as a public service, and receive no salary or compensation for their work.
- ULC's deliberative and uniquely open drafting process draws on the expertise of
 commissioners, but also utilizes input from legal experts, and advisors and observers
 representing the views of other legal organizations or interests that will be subject to the
 proposed laws.
- ULC is a state-supported organization that represents true value for the states, providing services that most states could not otherwise afford or duplicate.

UNIFORM COMMON INTEREST OWNERS BILL OF RIGHTS ACT

drafted by the

NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF COMMISSIONERS ON UNIFORM STATE LAWS

WITH PREFATORY NOTE AND COMMENTS

and by it

APPROVED AND RECOMMENDED FOR ENACTMENT IN ALL THE STATES

at its

ANNUAL CONFERENCE MEETING IN ITS ONE-HUNDRED-AND-SEVENTEENTH YEAR BIG SKY, MONTANA

July 18 – July 25, 2008

COPYRIGHT © 2008

By

NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF COMMISSIONERS

ON UNIFORM STATE LAWS

December 17, 2008

DRAFTING COMMITTEE ON UNIFORM COMMON INTEREST OWNERS BILL OF RIGHTS ACT

The Committee appointed by and representing the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in drafting this act consists of the following individuals:

CARL H. LISMAN, 84 Pine St., P.O. Box 728, Burlington, VT 05402, Chair

OWEN L. ANDERSON, University of Oklahoma College of Law, 300 Timberdell Rd., Norman, OK 73019

MARION W. BENFIELD, JR., 10 Overlook Circle, New Braunfels, TX 78132

DAVID D. BIKLEN, 153 N. Beacon St., Hartford, CT 06105

ELLEN F. DYKE, 2125 Cabots Point Lane, Reston, VA 20191

JOHN S. GILLIG, P.O. Box 4285, 91 C Michael Davenport Blvd., Frankfort, KY 40604

DALE G. HIGER, 1302 Warm Springs Ave., Boise, ID 83712

DONALD E. MIELKE, 7472 S. Shaffer Ln., Suite 100, Littleton, CO 80127

HIROSHI SAKAI, 3773 Diamond Head Circle, Honolulu, HI 96815

NATHANIEL STERLING, 4180 Oak Hill Ave., Palo Alto, CA 94306

YVONNE L. THARPES, Legislature of the Virgin Islands, P.O. Box 1690, St. Thomas, VI 00804

NORA WINKELMAN, Office of General Counsel, 333 Market St., 17th Flr., Harrisburg, PA 17101

LEE YEAKEL, Western District of Texas, P.O. Box 164196, Austin, TX 78716-4196

WILLIAM R. BREETZ, JR., Connecticut Urban Legal Initiative, University of Connecticut School of Law, 35 Elizabeth St. Rm K-202, Hartford, CT 06105, National Conference Reporter

EX OFFICIO

MARTHA LEE WALTERS, Oregon Supreme Court, 1163 State St., Salem, OR 97301-2563, President

WILLIAM H. HENNING, University of Alabama, Box 870382, Tuscaloosa, AL 35487-0382, Division Chair

AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION ADVISOR

GARY A. POLIAKOFF, 3111 Stirling Rd., Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33312-6525, ABA Advisor REBECCA ANDERSON FISCHER, 633 17th St., Suite 3000, Denver, CO 80202, ABA Section Advisor

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

JOHN A. SEBERT, 111 N. Wabash Ave., Suite 1010, Chicago, IL 60602, Executive Director

Copies of this Act may be obtained from:

NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF COMMISSIONERS

ON UNIFORM STATE LAWS

111 N. Wabash Ave., Suite 1010

Chicago, Illinois 60602

312/450-6600

www.nccusl.org

UNIFORM COMMON INTEREST OWNERS BILL OF RIGHTS ACT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE; FINDINGS; PUBLIC PURPOSES.	29
SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS	
SECTION 3. NO VARIATION BY AGREEMENT MANDATORY PROVISIONS;	
EXCEPTIONS	37
SECTION 4. OBLIGATION OF GOOD FAITH	38
SECTION 5. APPLICABILITY TO NEW COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITIES;	
EFFECT OF AMENDMENTS	39
SECTION 6. APPLICABILITY TO PREEXISTING COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITIES	S41
SECTION 7. EXEMPT REAL ESTATE ARRANGEMENTS	43
SECTION 8. POWERS AND DUTIES OF UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION	45
SECTION 9. EXECUTIVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEMBERS AND OFFICERS	
SECTION 10. BYLAWS	51
SECTION 11. UNIT OWNER MEETINGS	53
SECTION 12. MEETINGS OF EXECUTIVE BOARD BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND	
COMMITTEES	
SECTION 13. QUORUM	60
SECTION 14. VOTING; PROXIES; BALLOTS	
ORIGINAL SECTION 15. LIMITATIONS ON FORECLOSURE (STRICKEN)	66
SECTION 16 15. ASSOCIATION RECORDS	68
SECTION 17 16. RULES	72
SECTION 1817. NOTICE TO UNIT OWNERS	76
SECTION 1918. REMOVAL OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS	78
SECTION 2019. ADOPTION OF BUDGETS; SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS	80
SECTION 2120. EFFECT OF VIOLATIONS ON RIGHTS OF ACTION; ATTORNEY'S	
FEES	84
SECTION 2221. SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF LAW; CONFLICTS	
SECTION 2322. UNIFORMITY OF APPLICATION AND CONSTRUCTION	87
SECTION 2423. RELATION TO ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES IN GLOBAL AND	
NATIONAL COMMERCE ACT	88
SECTION 25. EFFECTIVE DATE	
NEW SECTION 2524. AMEND K.S.A. 58 3119	89
NEW SECTION 2625. AMEND K.S.A. 58-3120.	91
NEW SECTION 2726. REPEALER (REPEAL AMENDED STATUTES AND K.S.A. 58-3830	<u>))</u> 92
SECTION 2827. EFFECTIVE DATE	93

PREFATORY NOTE AND SUMMARY THE 2008 COMMON INTEREST OWNERS BILL OF RIGHTS ACT or "UCIOBORA"

The 2008 Amendments to the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act – In 2008, the Uniform Law Commission (the "ULC") approved amendments to the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA"), after a four year Drafting Committee effort. Colloquially, this has become known as "UCIOA 3.0."

UCIOA 3.0 primarily addresses a range of significant controversies between unit owner associations and individual members of those associations that have arisen in the years since the ULC last considered amendments to UCIOA in 1994. To a lesser degree, these amendments also address a range of other matters affecting common interest communities – that is, condominiums, cooperatives, and planned communities – that practitioners have identified throughout the country over the last decade.

Despite the many years of drafting efforts beginning in 1976 with The Uniform Condominium Act and culminating in the 1994 amendments to UCIOA, it had become increasingly clear by the time the Drafting Committee was created in 2005 that major tensions remained in the Common Interest Community field that neither UCIOA or any of its constituent Acts – nor most State statutes in this field – adequately addressed. Those tensions principally involved the perception that individual unit owners were often unduly disadvantaged in their dealings with the elected directors and employee/managers of unit owner associations.

Even in those few states that had adopted UCIOA more or less intact, and therefore were able to apply the detailed provisions of that Act to association activities, there has been a growing focus, both in the media and in professional conferences, on the intensity of owner/association disputes. State legislators were besieged with lobbying efforts to adopt narrowly focused special interest statutes intended to fix one or another association 'problem'. Even the federal government became involved, enacting a federal statute to insure that associations of every form of common interest community must permit the display of the American flag on units, and another one that enabled individual unit owners to purchase individual cable television systems, notwithstanding widespread prohibitions on such purchases by unit owner associations.

Accordingly, UCIOA 3.0 systematically identified those areas where there have been allegations that those who control the decision-making apparatus of associations have either abused the rights of individual unit owners, or suffer from such inadequate legislation that they are unable to adequately assist their owners. The list is considerable and includes at least these matters:

The Need for a Free-Standing Home Owner Bill of Rights - The ULC recognized that simply amending UCIOA or the constituent Acts - Uniform Condominium Act, Uniform Planned Community Act and Model Real Estate Cooperative Act - to add enhanced provisions for each of those Acts might not offer a sufficiently broad set of statutory options for consideration by State legislators around the United States. The reason is that each of these complex Acts has its detractors who have historically blocked adoption of these Acts in any state

because of the narrow interests of that stakeholder interest group. Thus, even in the many states that adopted the 1978 version of UCA, the many benefits of that Act – especially as amended in 1994 – have not been broadly realized for most of the common interest communities in those states, in part because those states have not generally adopted the 1994 amendments to UCA, and in part because UCA does not apply to the far more common 'planned communities' in those States, or to cooperatives.

Accordingly, it is common today to find one body of law in a state that applies to unit owner associations for condominiums in that state and an entirely different – and much less developed – body of law applicable to unit owner associations for either cooperatives or planned communities in the same state, when the unit owners in all three forms of ownership experience identical issues.

Further, ULC acknowledges that it will often not be feasible to enact UCIOA 3.0, in part because of the difficulty drafters in the States may encounter in integrating any new adoption of the existing Uniform Acts with the laws that may already exist in a particular state.

For these reasons, ULC promulgated a free-standing and relatively short Uniform Act that addresses all of the 'association versus unit owner' issues touched on during the drafting of the 2008 UCIOA amendments. The free-standing Act is known as the Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill Of Rights Act or "UCIOBORA". While not all sections of UCIOBORA are identical to UCIOA 3.0, the concepts underlying each Act are the same, and are adjusted simply to recognize the simplified nature of UCIOBORA.

ULC believes that in a state that had already adopted UCIOA, the better choice for that State would be to adopt UCIOA 3.0, rather than the UCIOBORA.

However, in states where none of these Acts has been adopted, or where only an early version of the Condominium Act had been adopted, it should be relatively easy to adopt UCIOBORA. This outcome would forego the considerable benefits that the more comprehensive statutes afford; however, it would provide the legislatures in the several states a ready means of addressing these currently controversial political issues, without engaging the other stakeholders who might be inclined to resist adoption of the more comprehensive Acts.

Highlights of the Act

Highlights of the new UCIOBORA are:

- Includes new key definitions, such as "common interest community" and "record."
- The new Act applies to all common interest communities in the state, whether or not existing prior to enactment of UCIOBORA in a state. However, because of concerns that the statute not be construed as impairing contracts, not all sections apply to all pre-act communities.

- Powers and duties of a unit owners association and the executive board are outlined.
 Treatment of association bylaws, rulemaking, operation and governance, notice methods, unit owners and board meetings, and meeting and voting procedures are also provided, as are governing provisions for the adoption of budgets and special assessments.
- UCIOBORA encompasses the authority to discipline unit owners, within limits, for
 failure to pay assessments, and the executive board of a unit owners association is given
 flexibility in determining whether to enforce the letter of each provision of its declaration,
 bylaws, or rules, or decline to enforce or compromise on such. The right of an
 association to proceed in foreclosure on a lien against a unit owner is revised and limited,
 and the act provides priority for the application of delinquent sums.
- Record keeping requirements and guidance are provided in greater detail, and are drawn from FOIA requirements and other sources.
- Procedures are provided for the removal of officers and directors of an association, along
 with certain protections for declarant-appointed directors. Removal procedures must be
 posted as part of the meeting notice, and the affected director or officer must have the
 opportunity to be heard.

Summary - Both UCIOA 3.0 and UCIOBORA address critical aspects of association governance, with particular focus on the relationship between the association and its individual members, foreclosures, election and recall of officers, meetings and treatment of records. There are a significant number of other amendments, style and substantive, to clarify and modernize the operation and governance of common interest associations. The new acts will better serve those governed by their provisions, and should be considered in every state.

Parallel Citation Table - The UCIOBORA sections, as they correspond to UCIOA Version 3.0, are:

UCIOBORA Section	Corresponding UCIOA 3.0 Section	Section Topic
Section 1	Section 1-101	Short Title (Adds Bill of Rights)
Section 2	Section 1-103	Definitions
Section 3	Section 1-104	No Variation By Agreement
Section 4	Section 1-113	Obligation of Good Faith
Section 5	Section 1-201	Applicability to New Common Interest Communities; Effect of Amendments
Section 6	Section 1-205, 1-206	Applicability to Pre-Existing Common Interest Communities
Section 7	Section 1-209, 1-210	Exempt Real Estate Arrangements
Section 8	Section 3-102	Powers and Duties of Unit Owners Associations
Section 9	Section 3-103(a) and (b), 3-101	Executive Board Members and Officers

Section 10	Section 3-106	Bylaws
Section 11	Section 3-108(a)	Unit Owner Meetings
Section 12	Section 3-108(b)	Meetings of Executive Board and
Section 12	,	Committees
Section 13	Section 3-109	Quorum
Section 14	Section 3-110	Voting; Proxies; Ballot
Section 15	Section 3-116(n)	Limitation on Foreclosure
Section 16	Section 3-118	Association Records
Section 17	Section 3-120	Rules
Section 18	Section 3-121	Notice to Unit Owners
Section 19	Section 3-122	Removal of Officers and Directors
Section 20	Section 3-123	Adoption of Budgets; Special Assessments
Section 21	Section 4-117, 1-114	Effect of Violation on Rights of Action;
Section 21	Beetion 117, 2 22	Attorney's Fees
Section 22	Section 1-108	Supplemental General Principles of Law;
Section 22	Beetion 1 100	Conflicts
Gardian 22 24 25	Section 1-110, 1-116, n/a	Uniformity of Application, Relation to
Section 23, 24, 25	Beetfoil 1-110, 1-110, 22-2	ESIGN, and Effective Date

UNIFORM COMMON INTEREST OWNERS BILL OF RIGHTS ACT

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE; FINDINGS; PUBLIC PURPOSES. (a) This act may be cited as the Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act.

- (b) The legislature finds:
- (1) that a significant and increasing number of Kansans live in common interest communities;
- (2) that effective operation of these common interest communities is in the interest of their owners, residents, and the state; and
- (3) that the adoption of uniform rules to govern the rights and duties of unit owners, associations, and developers will help to ensure that common interest communities operate effectively and fairly.
- (c) The public purposes of this act are to establish uniform rules of law to clarify the rights and duties of unit owners and associations in all forms of common interest communities, to provide for the effective operation of common interest communities in the interest of their owners and their residents and to address current and potential areas of conflict and tension between unit owners and associations, boards and managers in a comprehensive and balanced manner.

Kansas Comment

The addition of "Kansas" to the title indicates that, while the act itself follows the uniform act, a number of amendments have been made to adapt the uniform act to Kansas.

The Committee added section (b) as a statement of legislative findings and added subsection (c) as a statement of public purposes. It is the opinion of the Committee that such a statement may be of assistance if there is an issue as to whether any part of this legislation violates the Contracts Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

Subsections (b) and (c) refer several times to "common interest communities" which is a defined term in this act. The prefatory note to the UCIOBORA identifies condominiums, cooperatives and planned communities as the three types of common interest communities. However, the UCIOBORA does not use or define the terms "condominium," "cooperative," or "planned community." The Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act defines the terms as follows:

"Condominium" means a common interest community in which portions of the real estate are designated for separate ownership and the remainder of the real estate is designated for common ownership solely by the owners of those portions. A common interest community is not a condominium unless the undivided interests in the common elements are vested in the unit owners.

"Cooperative" means a common interest community in which the real estate is owned by an association, each of whose members is entitled by virtue of the member's ownership interest in the association to exclusive possession of a unit.

"Planned community" means a common interest community that is not a condominium or a cooperative. A condominium or cooperative may be part of a planned community.

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS. In this act:

- (1) (a) "Assessment" means the sum attributable to each unit and due to the association pursuant to the budget adopted under Section 2019.
 - (2) (b) "Association" means the unit owners association.
- (c) "Board of Directors" means the body, regardless of name, designated in the declaration or bylaws which has power to act on behalf of the association.
- (3) (d) "Bylaws" means the instruments, however denominated, that contain the procedures for conduct of the affairs of the association, regardless of the form in which the association is organized, including any amendments to the instruments.
- (4) "Common expense liability" means the liability for common expenses allocated to each unit.
- (5) "Common expenses" means expenditures made by, or financial liabilities of, the association, together with any allocations to reserves.
- (6) e) "Common interest community" means real estate described in a declaration with respect to which a person, by virtue of the person's ownership of a unit, is obligated to pay for a share of real estate taxes, insurance premiums, maintenance, or improvement of, or services or other expenses related to, common elements, other units, or other real estate described in that declaration. The term does not include an arrangement described in Section 7. For purposes of this paragraph, ownership of a unit does not include holding a leasehold interest of less than [20] years in a unit, including renewal options.
 - (7) (f) "Declarant" means a person or group of persons acting in concert that:
- (A) as part of a common promotional plan, offers to dispose of the interest of the person or group of persons in a unit not previously disposed of; or

- (B) reserves or succeeds to any declarant right.
- (8) (g) "Declaration" means the instrument, however denominated, that creates a common interest community, including any amendments to that instrument.
- (9) "Executive board" means the body, regardless of name, designated in the declaration or bylaws which has power to act on behalf of the association.
- (10) (h) "Limited common element" means a portion of the common elements allocated for the exclusive use of one or more but fewer than all of the units.
- (11) (i) "Person" means an individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture, public corporation, government or governmental subdivision, agency, or instrumentality, or any other legal or commercial entity. In the case of a land trust, the term means the beneficiary settlor of the trust rather than the trust or the trustee.
- (12) (i) "Record", used as a noun, means information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable form.
 - (13) (k) "Residential purposes" means use for dwelling or recreational purposes, or both.
- (14) (1) "Rule" means a policy, guideline, restriction, procedure, or regulation of an association, however denominated, which is not set forth in the declaration or bylaws and which governs the conduct of persons or the use or appearance of property.
- (15) (m) "Unit" means a physical portion of the common interest community designated for separate ownership or occupancy.
 - (16) (n) "Unit owner" means a person that owns a unit.

Kansas Comment

The Committee deleted definitions of "Common expense liability" and "Common expenses" because those phrases do not appear in the act. The Committee deleted the defined phrase "Executive board" but utilized the same definition to define "Board of directors." It is the opinion of the Committee that in Kansas "board of directors" is the common term utilized to identify the body that has the power to act on behalf of an association.

In subsection (e) which defines "common interest community" the Committee struck the phrase "of less than [20] years in a unit, including renewal options."

In subsection (i) which defines "person" the Committee struck the phrase "business trust" and replaced the word "beneficiary" with the word "settlor."

The Committee also utilized letters instead of numbers to identify the subsections, which is the style used in Kansas statutes.

ULC Comment

1. Regardless of how terms are used in a project's governing instrument, defined terms have an unvarying meaning in the Act, and any restricted practice which depends on the definition of a term is not affected by a changed term in the documents.

Example: A declarant might vary the definition of "unit owner" in the declaration to exclude himself in an attempt to avoid assessments for units which he owns. The attempt would be futile, since the Act defines a declarant who owns a unit as a unit owner and defines the liabilities of a unit owner.

2. Definition (6), "Common interest community" creates one comprehensive definition which is used through the Act, to refer collectively to the three particular forms of common interest community: condominiums, cooperatives, and planned communities.

Each of those forms in turn, may have a separate definition under other law of the state, but this act applies to all arrangements which meet this definition. Thus, there are but three forms of common interest community: (1) condominiums; (2) cooperatives; and (3) everything else.

The definition of "common interest community" accomplishes two other main goals.

First, it makes clear that the mutual obligations of unit owners – an obligation which arises "by virtue of" that ownership — to pay a share of the project's expenses may include a share of services provided to unit owners or other expenses provided either to the common elements or the units. Second, the definition makes clear that several common real estate arrangements described in Section 7 are excluded from the definition. Section 7 thus resolves the question of whether cost-sharing arrangements between an association and either another association or a third party require creation of a new association [they do not]. Section 7(b) also confirms that a variety of simple, traditional arrangements, such as a shared driveway, party wall, or shared well, which some have argued would technically satisfy the definition of "common interest community" in the Act as originally drafted, are not subject to the Act unless the drafter chooses that result.

3. Definition (7), "Declarant," is designed to exclude persons who may be called upon to execute the declaration in order to ratify the creation of the common interest community, but who are not intended to be charged with the responsibilities imposed on all declarants by this Act if that is all

they do. Examples of such persons include holders of pre-existing liens and, in the case of leasehold common interest communities, ground lessors. Other persons similarly protected by the narrow wording of this definition include real estate brokers, because they do not offer to dispose of their own interest in a unit. Similarly, unit owners reselling their units are not declarants because these units were "previously disposed of" when originally conveyed.

If the association, itself, or in conjunction with another declarant, is offering units for sale to others, and if those units have not previously been sold or otherwise disposed of, then the association itself is a declarant.

Finally, a person who, while in control of the association, chooses not to exercise that control, is still a declarant.

4. Definition (8), "Declaration," is defined as "any instruments, however denominated, that create a common interest community, including any amendments to those instruments." Thus, the term would not only include the traditional condominium declaration with which most practitioners are familiar, or the declaration of covenants, conditions, and restrictions (CC & R's) so common in planned unit developments. It would also include, for example, a series of deeds to units with common mutually beneficial restrictions, or to any other instruments which create the relationship which constitutes a common interest community. If those recorded instruments create that relationship, then those documents constitute a declaration and must contain, for new projects, the information required by Section 2-105.

The declaration of a cooperative does not include the proprietary leases of the individual units, although a sample of such a lease might be attached as an exhibit to the declaration.

Similarly, the definition of "declaration" of any common interest community does not refer to the bylaws of the association or the documents creating the association. Such documents do not "create" the common interest community, but merely regulate its use after creation. The bylaws may, but need not be, an exhibit to the declaration.

5. The definition (13) of "residential purposes" includes "recreational purposes." This common sense definition is used in order to avoid repeated use of a lengthier defined term, such as "residential or consumer owned recreational purposes."

The Act contemplates that "recreational purposes" would be "consumer owned" recreational purposes commonly marketed for sale to individual owners — uses such as dock spaces for boats, campgrounds, airplane tie downs, etc. By including these kinds of uses within the definition, the Act intends to provide the same consumer protections which it offers to individual residential purchasers — persons who typically buy for their own use — as distinguished from commercial users. Thus, the definition would exclude commercial recreational facilities which are operated as a business or available to the public on a fee for use basis, such as movie theaters, athletic or country clubs, golf courses, and the like.

Further, the definition is not intended to override, and thus perhaps expand on, existing local zoning ordinances which permit only "residential" use.

However, by including these recreational purposes within the defined term "residential purposes," no change in the plain and traditional meaning of the word "residential" is intended. Thus, the drafters recognize that owners of residential units -i.e., a unit which is designed for use as a residential dwelling — may hold those units for investment purposes, or that individual owners may

occasionally or regularly rent their units on an individual or rental pool basis. This is a common practice, for example, with residential communities built near ski or ocean resort areas. Rental occupancy does not change the residential character of the common interest community, or the consumer protections that must be offered to purchasers.

6. Definition (15), "Unit," describes a tangible, physical part of the project rather than a right in, or claim to, a tangible physical part of the property. Therefore, for example, a "time-share" arrangement in which a unit is sold to 12 different persons, each of whom has the right to occupy the unit for one month does not create 12 new units – there are, rather, 12 owners of the unit.

Similarly, in a cooperative, the unit remains a physical part of the real estate; its legal title is vested in the association while the right to possession is held by the unit owner under a proprietary lease. The definition, however, makes it clear that the association's interest in the unit is unaffected by transfers of interests in that unit to or by unit owners. The unit owner's interest is a composite interest, which consists of an ownership interest in the association, coupled with the right to occupy a unit pursuant to a lease.

The definition makes clear that in the case of a cooperative, if a unit owned by a unit owner is sold, conveyed, or encumbered or otherwise transferred by the unit owner, the interest in such unit which is affected is the right to possession of that unit under a proprietary lease, coupled with the allocated interests of that unit.

7. Definition (16), "Unit owner," contemplates that a seller under a land installment contract would remain the unit owner until the contract is fulfilled. As between the seller and the buyer, various rights and responsibilities must be assigned to the buyer by the contract itself, but the association would continue to look to the seller (for payment of any arrears in common expense assessments, for example,) as long as the seller holds title.

The definition makes it clear that a declarant, so long as he owns units in a common interest community, is the unit owner of any unit created by the declaration, and is therefore subject to all of the obligations imposed on other unit owners, including the obligation to pay common expense assessments. This provision is designed to resolve ambiguities on this point which have arisen under several existing state statutes.

In the special case of a cooperative, the declarant is treated as the owner of a unit or "potential unit" to which allocated interests have been allocated, until that unit is conveyed to another.

By defining the term "assessment" as the "sum attributable to each unit and due to the association pursuant to the budget...," the Act ties the term directly to the common expense liability of each unit for the unit's share of the association budget. It also distinguishes each unit's assessment from the other sums that may be due from a unit owner which are not a part of the association's budget and therefore are not included in that unit's assessment.

The definition of "bylaws" reflects the common functional meaning of that term, regardless of what different phrase might be used in the governing instruments to describe this instrument. The definition makes clear that: (i) the bylaws is the instrument that "contains the procedures for conduct of the affairs of the association" - as distinguished from the substantive role played by the declaration; (ii) the functional role of the bylaws remains consistent under the Act even if the association is organized as, for example, a limited liability company where the term "bylaws" is not

used in the statute authorizing such entities and the instrument serving that function is identified as an "operating agreement"; and (iii) amendments to the bylaws are incorporated into the amended document for purposes of this Act.

However, regardless of the name of the instrument used in the declaration, this Act mandates the minimum contents of the bylaws; see Section 10. Further, any provision of the State's statutes governing the content of the bylaws or, as appropriate, the operating agreement, to the extent inconsistent with the requirements of Section 10, would be overridden by this Act.

The definition of "Record" in Section 2(12) makes clear that the definition applies only when the term is used as a noun. The definition derives directly from federal and statute statutes governing electronic signatures; the term is commonly substituted for the word "writing" or "written" in other law.

The definition of "Rule" in Section 2(14) focuses on the activities to which they apply. That is, rules either "govern the conduct of persons" or they "govern...the use or appearance of property." In either case, the policy of the Act as expressed in Section 17 is that such restrictions ought to be the subject by unit owner review before adoption, and they must in all instances be reasonable; see Section 17(h).

In contrast, Section 17(g) states that the "association's internal business operating procedures need not be adopted as rules". This distinction permits the association's executive board or its management company to adopt or amend at will the wide variety of internal management procedures that govern the association's daily business activities — as opposed to the conduct of persons or the use and appearance of property. It may be helpful to provide a few examples of what the drafters contemplate might be typical internal business procedures that need not be adopted as rules:

- The association wishes to solicit bids from potential contractors for a particular project or service and adopts a procedure for soliciting, reviewing and accepting those bids.
- The board approves a management contract with an outside management company. The management contract contains various procedures governing how the manager is going to carry out its duties with regard to the management of the association.
- The recreation committee adopts a sign-up procedure for using the pool table in the clubhouse.

SECTION 3. NO VARIATION BY AGREEMENT MANDATORY PROVISIONS:

EXCEPTIONS. Except as expressly provided in this act, the effect of its provisions may not be varied by agreement, and rights conferred by it may not be waived. its provisions are mandatory and apply notwithstanding contrary provisions in the declaration or bylaws of a common interest community and may not be varied or waived by agreement.

Kansas Comment

The uniform act created a general rule that the provisions could not be varied unless expressly provided, but it also contained language in various places specifying that a particular provision applied notwithstanding contrary provisions in the declaration and/or bylaws. It is unclear why that language was necessary if the general rule was that the provisions are mandatory. To remove any doubt, this section has been redrafted to indicate that all provisions of the act are mandatory except as expressly provided in the act.

ULC Comment

- 1. The Act is generally designed to provide great flexibility in the creation of common interest communities and, to that end, the Act permits the parties to vary many of its provisions. In many instances, however, provisions of the Act may not be varied, because of the need to protect purchasers, lenders, and declarants. Accordingly, this section adopts the approach of prohibiting variation by agreement except in those cases where it is expressly permitted by the terms of the Act itself.
- 2. One of the consumer protections in this Act is the requirement for consent by specified percentages of unit owners to particular actions or changes in the declaration. In order to prevent declarants from evading these requirements by obtaining powers of attorney from all unit owners, or in some other fashion controlling the votes of unit owners, this section forbids the use by a declarant of any device to evade the limitation or prohibition of the Act or of the declaration.
- 3. The second sentence of the section is an important limitation upon the rights of a declarant. Today it is the practice in many jurisdictions, particularly those proscribing expansion of a condominium or planned community by statute, for a declarant to secure powers of attorney from all unit purchasers permitting the declarant unilaterally to expand the condominium or planned community by "unanimous consent" to include new units and to reallocate common element interests, common expense liability, and votes. With such powers of attorney, many declarants have purported to comply with the typical provision of "first generation" condominium statutes requiring unanimous consent for amendments of the declaration concerning such matters. The Act bars this practice.

SECTION 4. OBLIGATION OF GOOD FAITH. Every contract or duty governed by

this act imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance or enforcement.

Kansas Comment

The Committee made no changes in the uniform act. This is a mandatory provision.

ULC Comment

This section sets forth a basic principle running throughout this Act: in transactions involving common interest communities, good faith is required in the performance and enforcement of all agreements and duties. Good faith, as sued in this Act, means observance of two standards: "honesty in fact," and observance of reasonable standards of fair dealing. While the term is not defined, the term is derived from and used in the same manner as in Sections 2-103(i)(b) and 7-404 of the Uniform Commercial Code.

SECTION 5. APPLICABILITY TO NEW COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITIES; EFFECT OF AMENDMENTS. Except as otherwise provided in this act, this This act, and amendments thereto, applies apply to all condominiums in this state that may be used for residential purposes and to all other common interest communities that contain 12 or more units that may be used for residential purposes and are created within this state after the effective date of this act. Amendments to this act apply to all common interest communities that contain 12 or more units that may be used for residential purposes and are created after the effective date of this act or are subjected to this act by amendment of their declaration, regardless of when the amendment to this act is adopted in this state.

Kansas Comment

This section has been amended to clearly state that the act and amendments to the act apply to all new common interest communities.

ULC Comment

1. The question of the extent to which a state statute should apply to particular common interest communities involves two major conceptual problems: (1) whether the statute should require or permit different results for common interest communities created before and after the statute takes effect; and (2) whether differences in the forms of ownership, and the history of their development, requires different levels of applicability to those various forms.

Two conflicting policies are posed when considering the applicability of this Act to "old" and "new" common interest communities in the enacting State. On the one hand, it is desirable, for reasons of uniformity, for the Act to apply to all common interest communities located in a particular State, regardless of whether the common interest community was created before or after adoption of the Act in that State. To the extent that different laws apply within the same State to different common interest communities, confusion results in the minds of both lenders and consumers. Moreover, because of the inadequacies and uncertainties of common interest communities created under prior law, if any, and because of the requirements placed on declarants and unit owners' associations by this Act which might increase the costs of new common interest communities, different markets might tend to develop for common interest communities created before and after adoption of the Act.

On the other hand, to make all provisions of this Act automatically applicable to all aspects of

"old" common interest communities might violate the constitutional prohibition of impairment of contracts. In addition, aside from the constitutional issue, automatic applicability of the entire Act almost certainly would unduly alter the legitimate expectations of some present unit owners and declarants.

Accordingly, the philosophy of this part reflects a desire to maximize the uniform applicability of the Act to all common interest communities in the enacting State, while avoiding the difficulties raised by automatic application of the entire Act to preexisting common interest communities. This Act achieves that balance by, first, selective inclusion of provisions in this Act, and second, making this Act apply only to events and circumstances occurring after the Act's effective date. The comments to Section 6 develop this analysis in further detail.

In carrying out this philosophy with respect to "new projects," Section 5 of the Act applies to all residential common interest communities "created" within the State after the Act's effective date.

2. The second sentence makes clear that if an amendment to the Act is adopted after the Act is initially adopted in any State, the same body of law will thereafter apply to all common interest communities created under the Act or subjected to it. This is the corporate model, and avoids perpetuating the retroactivity issue. The issue of how the Act would apply to common interest communities created **before** the original effective date of the Act is addressed in Section 6.

SECTION 6. APPLICABILITY TO PREEXISTING COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITIES.

- (a) This act, and amendments thereto, applies apply to all common interest communities that contain 12 or more units that may be used for residential purposes created in this state before the effective date of this act; but this act, and amendments thereto, applies only do not apply with respect to actions or decisions of an association or its board of directors concerning events and circumstances occurring after before the effective date of this act and.
- (b) This act, and amendments thereto, do does not invalidate existing provisions of the declaration, bylaws, or plans of those common interest communities; provided, however, the provisions of the declaration or bylaws of a common interest community that are contrary to the mandatory provisions of this act, and amendments thereto, may not be enforced with respect to events and circumstances occurring after the effective date of the act.
- (b)(c) The declaration, bylaws, or plats and or plans of any common interest community created before the effective date of this act may be amended to achieve any result permitted by this act, regardless of what applicable law provided before the effective date of this act.

Kansas Comment

This section has been amended to address two ambiguities in the uniform act version. First, the uniform act stated that it applies to existing communities, but only with respect to events or circumstances after the effective date of the act. This language of the uniform act left uncertain whether the Act applies when the association takes action after the effective date of the act with respect to conduct that occurred before the effective date of the act. The amendment to subsection (a) clarifies that in such a case, the act does not apply.

Second, the statement in the original version of section 6 that it did not "invalidate" existing provisions seemed to imply that those provisions were controlling over contrary provisions of the statute. This appears to have been the intent of the drafters, although it is not entirely clear from the text of the statute or the accompanying comments. The concern seemed to be that retroactively invalidating provisions of the declaration or bylaws might violate the Contracts Clause of the U.S.

Constitution. On the other hand, a number of later provisions include language to the effect that the relevant provisions apply notwithstanding contrary provisions of the declaration or bylaws, which might be read to invalidate contrary provisions of preexisting declarations and bylaws—but only for some provisions.

To the extent that the intent of the drafters was to exempt pre-existing declarations and bylaws from the provisions of the act, that would deny the act's protections to the many owners, lessees, and associations that already exist—defeating its broad goals and creating confusion. This section has therefore been amended to provide that while the existing agreements and bylaws are valid, provisions that are inconsistent with mandatory provisions of the statute cannot be enforced.

The concern expressed by the drafters over the Contract Clause implications of retroactivity is unfounded. The comment to section 1-204 of the 2008 "AMENDMENTS TO UNIFORM COMMON INTEREST OWNERSHIP ACT" notes that the issue has "been raised in a number of litigated cases, with mixed results" and cites two cases. The first case, Fourth La Costa Condominium Owners Ass'n v. Seith, 159 Cal. App. 4th 563 (2008), rejected a contracts clause argument. The second, Association of Apartment Owners of Maalaea Kai, Inc. V. Stillson, 116 P.3d 644 (Hawaii 2005) is cited as holding a "statute unconstitutional as applied," but on examination the Court did not do so, and in fact reversed a lower court decision so holding without addressing the Contracts Clause issue at all. In general terms, the Contracts Clause has been applied so as to permit retroactive impairment of contracts provided that the impairment is reasonably related to a valid police power purpose. See, e.g. Energy Reserves Group v. Kansas Power & Light, 459 U.S. 500 (1983). This statute meets that test.

ULC Comment

- 1. This section states the general rules of applicability of the Act to common interest communities which were created before the effective date of this Act.
- 2. The Act adopts a novel three-step approach to common interest communities created before the effective date of the Act. First, all provisions of the Act automatically apply to "old" common interest communities, but only prospectively. Second, the Act applies only in a manner which does not invalidate provisions of declarations and bylaws valid under "old" law. Third, under Section 6(b), owners of "old" common interest communities may amend any provisions of their declaration or bylaws, even if the amendment would not be permitted by "old" law, so long as (a) the amendment is adopted in accordance with the procedure required by "old" law and the existing declaration and bylaws, and (b) the substance of the amendment does not violate this Act.

SECTION 7. EXEMPT REAL ESTATE ARRANGEMENTS.

- (a) An arrangement between the associations for two or more common interest communities to share the costs of real estate taxes, insurance premiums, services, maintenance or improvements of real estate, or other activities specified in their arrangement or declarations does not create a separate common interest community.
- (b) An arrangement between an association and the owner of real estate that is not part of a common interest community to share the costs of real estate taxes, insurance premiums, services, maintenance or improvements of real estate, or other activities specified in their arrangement does not create a separate common interest community. However, assessments against the units in the common interest community required by the arrangement must be included in the periodic budget for the common interest community, and the arrangement must be disclosed in all public offering statements and resale certificates required by this act.
- (c) A covenant that requires the owners of separately owned parcels of real estate to share costs or other obligations associated with a party wall, driveway, well, or other similar use does not create a common interest community unless the owners otherwise agree.

Kansas Comment

The Committee made no changes in section 7.

ULC Comment

This section addresses once again the scope of the Act. It should be considered in connection with the revised definition of "Common Interest Community". The subsections address three separate aspects of this issue:

• Whether contractual arrangements for cost sharing between two or more common interest communities require creation of a third separate common interest community; and

- Whether contractual arrangements for cost sharing between an association and an owner of real estate located outside the common interest community's boundaries require creation of a separate common interest community.
- Whether various shared real estate arrangements such as party walls or shared driveways are even subject to this Act.

The following analysis may help frame the issues.

First, there appear to be numerous situations in which a declaration of easements or a covenant to share costs would suffice to establish the relationship between two parcels without the need to establish another unit owners association to "manage" that relationship. Also, the sharing is not always a matter of shared use—it might be a shared concern for maintenance of public rights-of-way through a community, or shared benefit of a roving security patrol, or sharing of costs of street lights on thoroughfares.

Subsection (a) makes clear that in the case of arrangements between associations, a separate association would not be required in any of the foregoing instances.

However, the drafters did not intend that the section result in an arrangement where the unit owners are left without a remedy in those instances where, for example, the sharing arrangement appears to unreasonably allocate the costs or other important aspects of the arrangement between the parties.

Cost, of course, would be only one concern of unit owners and their associations arising out of an agreement to share in the use of and expenses for other land. The drafters are aware of situations in which developers have included amenities, such as clubhouses, swimming pools, tennis courts, as well as access roads, in one community and then grant to a second community the right to use the facilities together with the obligation to pay a pro rata share of the cost of operation. The decisions concerning the operation and maintenance of the facilities, however, remain with the first community. Such arrangements have the potential to breed frustration, acrimony, and abuse.

Several provisions of the Act offer remedies for circumstances where the two associations may not have equal bargaining power, and those provisions would apply here with equal force. By way of example, if the arrangement were created for purposes of avoiding the limitations of the Act, if the organizers of the arrangement had not acted in good faith, or if the allocated interests between the associations were unlawful, the mandates of Sections 3, 4, and 21 would apply.

In the case of arrangements between associations and third parties other than associations, subsection (b) avoids the need for a separate unit owner association so long as the costs to be borne by the unit owners in the existing association are reflected in the periodic budget for the association and are subject to approval by the unit owners.

Finally, in the case of the arrangements described in subsection (c), while these various forms of simple shared arrangements might arguably satisfy the definition of "common interest community," there is no policy reason to vary common practice, which is to treat these arrangements as governed by the agreement of the parties, supplemented by common law. Accordingly, subsection (c) expressly excludes these arrangements from the Act.

SECTION 8. POWERS AND DUTIES OF UNIT OWNERS ASSOCIATION.

- (a) Regardless of the powers and duties of the association described in the declaration and bylaws the The association:
 - (1) shall adopt and may amend bylaws and may adopt and amend rules;
 - (2) shall adopt and may amend budgets;
- (3) may shall have the power to require that disputes between the association and unit owners or between two or more unit owners regarding the common interest community be submitted to nonbinding alternative dispute resolution as a prerequisite to commencement of a judicial proceeding;
- (4) promptly shall promptly provide notice to the unit owners of any legal proceedings in which the association is a party other than proceedings involving enforcement of rules or to recover unpaid assessments or other sums due the association;
- (5) shall establish a reasonable method for unit owners to communicate among themselves and with the executive board of directors concerning the association;
- (6) may shall have the power to suspend any right or privilege of a unit owner that fails to pay an assessment, but may not:
 - (A) deny a unit owner or other occupant access to the owner's unit;
 - (B) suspend a unit owner's right to vote; or
- (C) prevent a unit owner from seeking election as a director or officer of the association; or
- (D) (C) withhold services provided to a unit or a unit owner by the association if the effect of withholding the service would be to endanger the health, safety, or property of any person; and
 - (7) may exercise shall have all other powers that may be exercised in this state by

organizations of the same type as the association.

- (b) The executive board of directors may determine whether to take enforcement action by exercising the association's power to impose sanctions or commencing an action for a violation of the declaration, bylaws, and rules, including whether to compromise any claim for unpaid assessments or other claim made by or against it. The executive board of directors does not have a duty to take enforcement action if it determines that, under the facts and circumstances presented:
- (1) the association's legal position does not justify taking any or further enforcement action;
- (2) the covenant, restriction, or rule being enforced is, or is likely to be construed as, inconsistent with law;
- (3) although a violation may exist or may have occurred, it is not so material as to be objectionable to a reasonable person or to justify expending the association's resources; or
 - (4) it is not in the association's best interests to pursue an enforcement action.
- (c) The executive board's board of director's decision under subsection (b) not to pursue enforcement under one set of circumstances does not prevent the executive board of directors from taking enforcement action under another set of circumstances, but the executive board of directors may not be arbitrary or capricious in taking enforcement action.
- (d) Unless expressly prohibited by the declaration, an association shall have the power to borrow money and assign its right to future income, including the right to receive assessments, as provided in this subsection.

At least fourteen days prior to entering into any loan agreement on behalf of the association, the board of directors shall disclose to all unit holders the amount and terms of the loan and the estimated effect of such loan on any common expense assessment. Unit owners shall then have a reasonable opportunity to submit comments to the board of directors with respect to such loan.

If the board of directors proposes to enter into a loan agreement on behalf of the association and to assign the right to future income as security for such loan pursuant to this section, unit owners of units to which at least a majority of the votes in an association are allocated, or any larger percentage or fraction stated in the declaration, must vote in favor of or agree to such assignment.

Kansas Comment

The Committee struck the phrase "executive board" and inserted the phrase "board of directors" in lieu thereof at a number of places in the section. The Committee also struck subsection (a)(6)(C) of the uniform act because it is the position of the Committee that if a unit owner fails to pay an assessment, he or she should not be eligible to seek election as a director or officer of the association.

Some provisions have been changed to replace "may" with "shall have the power," in order to make clear that the power is mandatory, although it need not be exercised.

The Committee added a new subsection (d) which allows associations to borrow money and assign its right to future income, including the right to receive assessments, unless such practice is expressly prohibited by the declaration

Subsections (a), (b) and (c) are mandatory. Subsection (d) is a default provision.

ULC Comment

This section contains a shortened list of powers of the association, when compared to Section 3-102 of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act. It assumes the declaration may have provisions listing a variety of other enumerated powers. The important point is that the powers listed in this section may not be limited in the governing instruments.

Section 8(a)(6) allows the executive board to "suspend and right or privilege of a unit owner that fails to pay an assessment"; this is similar to statutes in other States; compare, e.g., North Carolina § 47F-3-102 (11). However, unlike other States, Section 3-102 (a)(19) specifically precludes suspending the right to vote or the right to run for an association office if a unit owner has not paid her assessments.

Subsection (b) addresses the important question of whether the Association may "selectively enforce" its rules or whether it is obliged to enforce the rules to the letter in every instance, at the risk of being found by a court to have failed to meet its fiduciary duties, or to have waived its right to enforce the rules in some future instance as a consequence of its failure to enforce the rules in this instance.

In evaluating the alternative outcomes here, the extreme positions are clear. On the one hand, one could assert that the Board's obligation is to strictly enforce or attempt to enforce every alleged breach of the rules, so that the board can never be accused of selective enforcement, favoritism, breach of duty, or waiver.

Alternatively, the board could be held free of any obligation to enforce at any time, without in

any way constraining its ability to enforce the same rules at a later time against the same or different persons in those cases where the board decided it would do so.

In the middle is a rule of law that would guide the Board's exercise of discretion. There are a number of theoretical standards that might guide the Board's discretion; they include: (i) the 'business judgment rule'; (ii) arbitrary and capricious; (iii) reasonableness; (iv) bad faith; (v) discriminatory or other improper purposes; (vi) "best interests of the association"; (vii) "good cause"; or (viii) perhaps the Latin maxim "De minimus non curat lex"—the notion that "the law does not care about insignificant matters."

There have also been legislative proposals in various states in response to the issue of discretionary rules enforcement, although there does not appear to be a consensus position. Several of those proposals were considered by the drafters.

The text in subsection (b) represents a middle position to guide an Executive Board as it considers whether or how to enforce a particular rule. The text identifies those circumstances where the Board might conclude, in any given case, not to enforce the rules as they have been drafted. These criteria are premised, of course, in all instances on the recognition that the decision-making process of the Executive Board is subject to the "Business Judgment Rule"; see Comments to Section 9.

In those circumstances where the Board declines to enforce a rule, nothing in this Act precludes an individual unit owner from seeking independently to enforce the rules in a particular instance pursuant to Section 21.

While subsection (f) deals with the executive board's discretion in enforcing its rules in any single instance, subsection (g) states the basic principle that the board's decision in one instance is not binding in another future instance, under another set of circumstances. At the same time, the subsection emphasizes that the Board may not act in an arbitrary or capricious fashion.

As with every provision of this Act, Section 22 makes clear that "principles of law and equity...supplement the provisions of this Act, except to the extent inconsistent with this Act". In the case of Section 8(g), it is clear that other principles of law and equity, including the law of waiver and course of performance, would supplement this section. Such principles have often been applied by courts in appropriate circumstances as they consider the extent to which an absence of enforcement over time has modified recorded covenants affecting real estate, and this Act does not modify those principles, except as stated in (g).

SECTION 9. EXECUTIVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS; MEMBERS AND OFFICERS.

- (a) In the performance of their duties, officers and members of the executive board of directors appointed by the declarant shall exercise the degree of care and loyalty to the association required of a trustee. Officers and members of the executive board of directors not appointed by the declarant shall exercise the degree of care and loyalty to the association required of an officer or director of a corporation organized, and are subject to the conflict of interest rules governing directors and officers, under [insert reference to state nonprofit corporation law] existing law. The standards of care and loyalty described in this section apply regardless of the form in which the association is organized.
- (b) An association shall have an executive a board of directors created in accordance with its declaration or bylaws. Except as otherwise provided in the declaration, the bylaws, subsection (c), or other provisions of this act, the executive board of directors acts on behalf of the association.
 - (c) The executive board of directors may not:
 - (1) amend the declaration except as provided by law other than this act;
 - (2) amend the bylaws;
 - (3) terminate the common interest community;
- (4) elect members of the executive board of directors, but may fill vacancies in its membership for the unexpired portion of any term or, if earlier, until the next regularly scheduled election of executive board of director's members; or
- (5) determine the qualifications, powers, duties, or terms of office of executive board of director's members.

Kansas Comment

A number of references to "board of directors" have been changed to "executive board".

The bracketed phrase relating to "nonprofit corporation law" was not included and the phrase "existing law" was inserted instead.

In subsection (a) the uniform act contemplates a reference to the state's nonprofit corporation law be inserted. In Kansas the nonprofit corporation law does not appear in a separate article or in separate sections of the Corporation Code. Rather it is scattered throughout the Code, with sections of the Code frequently containing subsections relating to nonprofit corporations.

All provisions of this section are mandatory. The Committee inserted the language "existing law" which is intended to reference relevant statutory and case law.

ULC Comment

1. Subsection (a) makes members of the executive board appointed by the declarant liable as trustees of the unit owners with respect to their actions or omissions as members of the board. This provision imposes a very high standard of duty because the board is vested with great power over the property interests of unit owners, and because there is a great potential for conflicts of interest between the unit owners and the declarant.

2. Subsection (a) is intended to conform the Act to expectations of owners, members of executive boards, and courts. The duty owed by an elected member of an executive board ought to parallel the standard imposed on directors of nonprofit corporations. By making reference to the nonprofit corporate model, members will also obtain the benefits of the business judgment rule, now commonly applied by courts in the nonprofit context; see, for example, Levandusky v. One Fifth Avenue Apartment Corp., 75 N.Y.2d 530 (1990).

The Act relies on the business judgment rule as the basis for evaluating the actions of the Board. "As long as directors of a corporation decide matters rationally, honestly, and without a disabling conflict of interest, the decision will not be reviewed by the courts." Atkins v. Hibernia Corp., 182 F3d 320, 324, (5th cir. 1999) quoted in Block, Barton & Radin, The Business Judgment Rule, (5th ed. 1998) in 2002 Supp. Page 6.

The business judgment rule is a tool of judicial review, not a standard of conduct. The rule (1) shields directors from liability and protects decisions made by directors when the rule's elements—a business decision, disinterestedness, and independence, due care, good faith and no abuse of discretion—are present and a challenged decision does not constitute fraud, illegality, ultra-vires conduct or waste, and (2) creates a presumption that directors have acted in accordance with each of the elements of the rule.

[Block et al at page 110.] In its 2007 decision, the Supreme Court of New Jersey confirmed the continuing vitality of the business judgment rule as the basis for evaluating the activities of the executive board of a unit owners association. See Committee for a Better Twin Rivers v. Twin Rivers Homeowners Association, 192 N.J. 344; 929 A.2d 1060 (2007); the decision is expected to be widely followed.

The "fiduciary" standard of care for declarant-appointed directors is appropriate. The law contemplates many forms of fiduciary relationships; among them, the trustee's duty is the highest.

SECTION 10. BYLAWS.

- (a) The bylaws of the association must:
- (1) provide the number of members of the executive board of directors and the titles of the officers of the association;
- (2) provide for election by the executive board of directors or, if the declaration requires, by the unit owners, of a president, treasurer, secretary, and any other officers of the association the bylaws specify;
- (3) specify the qualifications, powers and duties, terms of office, and manner of electing and removing executive board of director's members and officers and filling vacancies;
- (4) specify the powers the executive board of directors or officers may delegate to other persons or to a managing agent;
- (5) specify the officers who may prepare, execute, certify, and record amendments to the declaration on behalf of the association;
 - (6) specify a method for the unit owners to amend the bylaws;
- (7) contain any provision necessary to satisfy requirements in this act or the declaration concerning meetings, voting, quorums, and other activities of the association; and
- (8) provide for any matter required by law of this state other than this act to appear in the bylaws of organizations of the same type as the association.
- (b) Subject to the declaration and this act, the bylaws may provide for any other necessary or appropriate matters, including matters that could be adopted as rules.

Kansas Comment

A number of references to "executive board" have been changed to "board of directors." Subsection (a) is mandatory. Subsection (b) is a default section.

ULC Comment

1. Because the Act does not require the recordation of bylaws, it is contemplated that unrecorded bylaws will set forth only matters relating to the internal operations of the association and various "housekeeping" matters with respect to the common interest community. The Act requires specific matters to be set forth in the recorded declaration and not in the bylaws, unless the bylaws are to be recorded as an exhibit to the declaration.

2. The Act does not prevent the bylaws from permitting the executive board to delegate all its powers to a manager or to another entity. Whether or not such a delegation were to take place, the law of principal and agent would apply to that relationship, and the executive board would remain responsible for fulfillment of its duties imposed under this Act.

3. As the definition of the term "bylaws" makes clear, the bylaws are intended to address procedural matters affecting the governance of the association. They are not intended to contain matters that might affect title to real property nor any of the covenants restricting the use of the units or the common property. That is one of the primary reasons why the Act requires that the declaration be recorded on the land records, while the bylaws need not be recorded.

4. The bylaws might include a broad range of qualifications for directors and officers. This Act neither imposes constraints on what these qualifications might be or mandates any such qualifications, other than the requirement that, after the period of declarant control ends, a majority of directors must be unit owners. Other law, of course, such as laws prohibiting various forms of discrimination, may independently impose limits on permissible qualifications.

5. Section 10(a)(6) requires the bylaws to state a method by which the unit owners may amend the bylaws. This provision complements the text in Section 9(c)(2)that precludes the executive board from amending the bylaws.

SECTION 11. UNIT OWNER MEETINGS.

- (a) An association shall hold a meeting of unit owners annually at a time, date, and place stated in or fixed in accordance with the bylaws.
- (b) An association shall hold a special meeting of unit owners to address any matter affecting the common interest community or the association if its president, a majority of the executive board of directors or unit owners having at least 20 25 percent, or any lower percentage specified in the bylaws, of the votes in the association request that the secretary call the meeting. If the association does not notify unit owners of a special meeting within 30 days after the requisite number or percentage of unit owners request the secretary to do so, the requesting members may directly notify all the unit owners of the meeting. Only matters described in the meeting notice required by subsection (c) may be considered at a special meeting.
- (c) An association shall notify unit owners of the time, date, and place of each annual and special unit owners meeting not less than 10 days or more than 60 days before the meeting date. Notice may be by any method reasonably calculated to provide notice to the person. The notice for any meeting must state the time, date, and place of the meeting and the items on the agenda, including:
- (1) a statement of the general nature of any proposed amendment to the declaration or bylaws;
 - (2) any budget proposals or changes; and
 - (3) any proposal to remove an officer or member of the executive board of directors.
- (d) The minimum time to give notice required by subsection (c) may be reduced or waived for a meeting called to deal with an emergency.
 - (e) Unit owners must be given a reasonable opportunity at any meeting to comment regarding

any matter affecting the common interest community or the association.

(f) The declaration or bylaws may allow for meetings of unit owners to be conducted by telephonic, video, or other conferencing process, if the alternative process is consistent with Section 12(g).

Kansas Comment

The Committee inserted the phrase "board of directors" in lieu of "executive board" where it appeared in this section.

In subsection (b), the requirement that an association hold a special meeting of the unit owners to address any matter affecting the common interest community or the association, if unit owners having at least 20 percent of the votes in the association request the secretary to call a meeting, was amended by changing the 20 percent requirement to 25 percent. It was the experience of members of the Committee that the 25 percent number is common in bylaws and rather than require changes to a number of bylaws, that the requirement should be raised to 25 percent.

In subsection (c) the phrase "proposals or" was inserted to make the subsection consistent with revised section 19.

With the exception of subsection (f), the provisions of this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

- 1. This section imposes a variety of requirements dealing exclusively with unit owner meetings, while Section 12 contains new "open meeting" requirements for executive board meetings and meetings of committees which are authorized to act for the Board.
- 2. The section contains several provisions designed to enhance unit owner participation in unit owner meetings. For example, paragraph (e) requires that unit owners be provided the opportunity to address the executive board during each meeting of the unit owners. While this provision is an important part of the democratization process in community associations, it is implicit that the officers and executive board members have the inherent right to establish reasonable controls over the behavior of unit owners during the meetings. Thus, for example, the board could prevent unit owners from interrupting the regular conduct of business and the time of other speakers, and could, as well, set reasonable limits on the number of speakers at any one meeting, the repetitiveness of unit owner comments, and the aggregate time that unit owners may consume during the meeting.
- 3. Subsection (b) provides that, with respect to special meetings of the unit owners, "only matters described in the meeting notice...may be considered at" that meeting The purpose of limiting the agenda of a special meeting to the subjects identified in the notice is to allow a member, who has no concern about the items listed in the notice, to decide not to attend the meeting, secure in the knowledge that other topics cannot be raised and voted on without his or her knowledge. A generic

heading such as "New Business" would not be sufficient to permit items to be taken up if they were not otherwise described in the notice. In contrast, of course, at an annual meeting, unit owners are entitled to consider any matter, whether or not on an agenda.

- 4. Subsection (c) details the procedures and minimum content of the notice sent to unit owners. Importantly, the notice must contain "a statement of the general nature of any proposed amendment to the declaration or bylaws," rather than containing the precise text of any proposed amendment. Thus, the unit owners are entitled to make germane amendments to whatever text is proposed at the meeting; they are not bound to a "yes" or "no" vote on text fixed in that notice.
- 5. Experience demonstrates that the "town meeting" model for unit owner meetings where only those persons physically present at a meeting of unit owners may vote is no longer suited to a considerable number of communities, particularly larger communities and communities made up largely of second homes. Section 14 of this act complements this section; it greatly expands the available procedures for voting, to include absentee ballots and voting without a meeting by electronic means or paper ballots.
- 6. Section (f) contemplates that the declaration or bylaw may provide for unit owners to "meet" "by telephonic, video or other conferencing method...," so long as such meetings enable sufficient unit owner participation.
- 7. Subsection (g) provides that meetings of the association must be conducted in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order unless the bylaws otherwise provide. As a consequence of this default rule, it is not necessary for this Act to address a range of procedural issues and, in the normal situation, it will be unnecessary for the association to adopt detailed meeting procedures, either in the bylaws or in separate rules.

By way of example, we might assume that a regularly scheduled unit owners' meeting was properly noticed and held, but that a quorum was not present. In that case, the procedural issue is presented as to whether that meeting might be recessed in these circumstances to enable solicitation of more attendance, or proxies, in order to conduct business. The statute might be drafted to address the issue, either directly or by requiring the bylaws to address it. The default rule of relying on Robert's Rules, however, completely resolves the issue, by expressly permitting a recess in these circumstances. See Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised (10th ed. 2000) at 336-37.

Of course, it may be that the board of an association may prefer a more simplified set of meeting procedures. The bylaws could be amended to adopt such procedure, and many models are available. See, e.g., Nagle, Meetings and Elections: How Community Associations Exercise Democracy (CAI Press, 2005).

SECTION 12. MEETINGS OF EXECUTIVE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES.

- (a) Meetings of the executive board of directors and committees of the association authorized to act for the association must be open to the unit owners except during executive sessions. The executive board of directors and those committees may hold an executive session only during a regular or special meeting of the board or a committee. No final vote or action may be taken during an executive session. An executive session may be held only to:
 - (1) consult with the association's attorney concerning legal matters;
- (2) discuss existing or potential litigation or mediation, arbitration, or administrative proceedings;
 - (3) discuss labor or personnel matters;
- (4) discuss contracts, leases, and other commercial transactions to purchase or provide goods or services currently being negotiated, including the review of bids or proposals, if premature general knowledge of those matters would place the association at a disadvantage; or
- (5) prevent public knowledge of the matter to be discussed if the executive board of directors or committee determines that public knowledge would violate the privacy of any person.
- (b) For purposes of this section, a gathering of board members of directors at which the board members do not conduct association business is not a meeting of the executive board of directors.

 The executive board of directors and its members may not use incidental or social gatherings of board members or any other method to evade the open meeting requirements of this section.
- (c) During the period of declarant control, the executive board of directors shall meet at least four times a year. At least one of those meetings must be held at the common interest community or at a place convenient to the community. After termination of the period of declarant control, the board of directors shall meet at least once a year. all All executive board of director's meetings must

be at the common interest community or at a place convenient to the community unless the unit owners amend the bylaws to vary the location of those meetings.

- (d) At each executive board of director's meeting, the executive board shall provide a reasonable opportunity for unit owners to comment regarding any matter affecting the common interest community and the association.
- (e) Unless the meeting is included in a schedule given to the unit owners or the meeting is called to deal with an emergency, the secretary or other officer specified in the bylaws shall give notice of each executive board of directors meeting to each board member and to the unit owners. The notice must be given at least 10 days before the meeting and must state the time, date, place, and agenda of the meeting and, except as provided in sections 11(c) and 19, be given at least five days prior to the meeting date.
- (f) If any materials are distributed to the executive board of directors before the meeting, the executive board at the same time shall make copies of those materials reasonably available to unit owners, except that the board need not make available copies of unapproved minutes or materials that are to be considered in executive session.
- (g) Unless the declaration or bylaws otherwise provide, the executive board of directors may meet by telephonic, video, or other conferencing process if:
- (1) the meeting notice states the conferencing process to be used and provides information explaining how unit owners may participate in the conference directly or by meeting at a central location or conference connection; and
- (2) the process provides all unit owners the opportunity to hear or perceive the discussion and to comment as provided in subsection (d).
 - (h) After termination of any period when the declarant controls the association, unit owners

may amend the bylaws to vary the procedures for meetings described in subsection (g).

- (i) Instead During the period of declarant control, instead of meeting, the executive board of directors may act by unanimous consent as documented in a record authenticated by all its members.

 The secretary promptly shall give notice to all unit owners of any action taken by unanimous consent.

 After termination of the period of declarant control, the executive board of directors may act by unanimous consent only to undertake ministerial actions or to implement actions previously taken at a meeting of the executive board.
- (j) Even if an action by the executive board of directors is not in compliance with this section, it is valid unless set aside by a court. A challenge to the validity of an action of the executive board of directors for failure to comply with this section may not be brought more than 60 days after the minutes of the executive board of directors of the meeting at which the action was taken are approved or the record of that action is distributed to unit owners, whichever is later.

Kansas Comment

The section was amended in a number of places by striking "executive board" and inserting "board of directors."

In subsection (c), the Committee inserted language to clarify that, after the period of declarant control, the board of directors is required to meet at least once a year.

In subsection (e), the Committee reduced the requirement that notice for a meeting must be given at least 10 days before the meeting to 5 days, unless the meeting involves budgetary matters pursuant to sections 11(c) and 19.

In subsection (i), the Committee clarified that the authority of the board to act by unanimous consent is available only during the period of declarant control.

All of the subsections of this section are mandatory, with the exception of subsection (g), which is a default provision.

ULC Comment

1. This section sets out a series of "open meeting" requirements for meetings of the executive board and any committees to which the board has delegated authority. The provisions are generally consistent with several existing state statutes; see, e.g., Virginia Stat. Ann. § 55-510.1. The highlights of the section are these:

First, the section provides generally that all meetings of the executive committee (except executive sessions) must be open to unit owners. To make this right meaningful, the section requires that unit owners be given notice of those meetings, access to the same materials provided to members of the executive board, and the right to speak at executive board meetings.

Second, while the executive board may meet in executive session, the purposes for which such meetings may be held, and the permissible outcomes of those meetings are considerably limited. Such sessions may only be held in conjunction with a regular or special meeting of the executive board (and therefore noticed to unit owners); no final vote or action may be taken during an executive session; and the purposes for which an executive session may be held are considerably circumscribed.

Third, the Act provides that the board and its members "may not use incidental or social gatherings of board members or any other method to evade" the open meeting requirements of this section.

Fourth, the Act mandates that the executive board meet at least four times a year, and that those meetings "must be at" or "at a place convenient to" the common interest community.

Fifth, while the executive board may meet telephonically, by video or other conferencing method, it may only do so if unit owners have a means to participate in that conference and hear or perceive the proceedings.

Sixth, while the executive board may act without a meeting by unanimous written consent – a procedure uniformly allowed by all corporate statutes – they may do so after the period of declarant control "only to undertake ministerial actions or to implement actions previously taken at a meeting of the executive board."

- 2. Subsection (e) does provide that the need for notice to unit owners of executive board meetings may be avoided in the event of an "emergency". While the Act does not define that term, the concept plainly includes the notion of "immediate irreparable harm" or other circumstances where the board must act promptly to either avoid an adverse outcome or avoid failing to take advantage of an opportunity. "Emergency" includes the further notion that there is insufficient time from the time the issue came to the attention of the directors to give complete notice to owners.
- 3. Subsection (j) seeks to strike a balance between the open meeting requirements of subsection (b) and the legitimate expectations of third parties who may rely on the action of an executive board that, in hindsight, was taken without complying with the notice or other constraints imposed on executive board actions by this section. Under this section, a decision of the executive board will be insulated from challenge because of defective notice to unit owners or other failure if the challenge is not brought within 60 days after the minutes of the executive board at which the action is taken are distributed, or those minutes are approved, whichever is later.

SECTION 13. QUORUM.

- (a) Unless the bylaws otherwise provide, a quorum is present throughout any meeting of the unit owners if persons entitled to cast 20 percent of the votes in the association:
 - (1) are present in person or by proxy at the beginning of the meeting;
- (2) have cast absentee ballots solicited in accordance with the association's procedures which have been delivered to the secretary in a timely manner; or
 - (3) are present by any combination of paragraphs (1) and (2).
- (b) Unless the bylaws specify a larger number, a quorum of the executive board of directors is present for purposes of determining the validity of any action taken at a meeting of the executive board of directors only if individuals entitled to cast a majority of the votes on that board are present at the time a vote regarding that action is taken. If a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a majority of the board members present is the act of the executive board of directors unless a greater vote is required by the declaration or bylaws.
- (c) Except as otherwise provided in the bylaws, meetings of the association must be conducted in accordance with the most recent edition of Roberts' Rules of Order Newly Revised.

Kansas Comment

Reference to "board of directors" has been substituted for "executive board" where it appears.

All subsections in this section are default provisions.

ULC Comment

Mandatory quorum requirements lower than 50 percent for meetings of the association are often justified because of the common difficulty of inducing unit owners to attend meetings. The problem is particularly acute in the case of resort common interest communities where many owners may reside elsewhere, often at considerable distances, for most of the year.

SECTION 14. VOTING; PROXIES; BALLOTS.

- (a) Unless prohibited or limited by the declaration or bylaws, unit owners may vote at a meeting in person, by absentee ballot pursuant to subsection (b)(4), by a proxy pursuant to subsection (c), or, when a vote is conducted without a meeting, by electronic or paper ballot pursuant to subsection (d).
- (b) At <u>Unless contrary provisions of the declaration or bylaws so provide, at</u> a meeting of unit owners the following requirements apply:
- (1) Unit owners who are present in person may vote by voice vote, show of hands, standing, or any other method for determining the votes of unit owners, as designated by the person presiding at the meeting.
- (2) If only one of several owners of a unit is present, that owner is entitled to cast all the votes allocated to that unit. If more than one of the owners are present, the votes allocated to that unit may be cast only in accordance with the agreement of a majority in interest of the owners, unless the declaration expressly provides otherwise. There is majority agreement if any one of the owners casts the votes allocated to the unit without protest being made promptly to the person presiding over the meeting by any of the other owners of the unit.
- (3) Unless a greater number or fraction of the votes in the association is required by this act or the declaration, a majority of the votes cast determines the outcome of any action of the association.
- (4) Subject to subsection (a), a unit owner may vote by absentee ballot without being present at the meeting. The association promptly shall deliver an absentee ballot to an owner that requests it if the request is made at least three days before the scheduled meeting. Votes cast by absentee ballot must be included in the tally of a vote taken at that meeting.

- (5) When a unit owner votes by absentee ballot, the association must be able to verify that the ballot is cast by the unit owner having the right to do so.
- (c) Except as otherwise provided in the declaration or bylaws, the following requirements apply with respect to proxy voting:
- (1) Votes allocated to a unit may be cast pursuant to a directed or undirected proxy duly executed by a unit owner.
- (2) If a unit is owned by more than one person, each owner of the unit may vote or register protest to the casting of votes by the other owners of the unit through a duly executed proxy.
- (3) A unit owner may revoke a proxy given pursuant to this section only by actual notice of revocation to the person presiding over a meeting of the association.
 - (4) A proxy is void if it is not dated or purports to be revocable without notice.
- (5) A proxy is valid only for the meeting at which it is cast and any recessed session of that meeting.
- (6) A person may not cast undirected proxies representing more than 15 percent of the votes in the association.
- (d) Unless prohibited or limited by the declaration or bylaws, an association may conduct a vote without a meeting. In that event, If a vote without a meeting is permitted and used, the following requirements apply:
 - (1) The association shall notify the unit owners that the vote will be taken by ballot.
- (2) The association shall deliver a paper or electronic ballot to every unit owner entitled to vote on the matter.
- (3) The ballot must set forth each proposed action and provide an opportunity to vote for or against the action.

- (4) When the association delivers the ballots, it shall also:
- (A) indicate the number of responses needed to meet the quorum requirements;
- (B) state the percent of votes necessary to approve each matter other than election of directors;
- (C) specify the time and date by which a ballot must be delivered to the association to be counted, which time and date may not be fewer than three days after the date the association delivers the ballot; and
- (D) describe the time, date, and manner by which unit owners wishing to deliver information to all unit owners regarding the subject of the vote may do so.
- (5) Except as otherwise provided in the declaration or bylaws, a ballot is not revoked after delivery to the association by death or disability or attempted revocation by the person that cast that vote.
- (6) Approval by ballot pursuant to this subsection is valid only if the number of votes cast by ballot equals or exceeds the quorum required to be present at a meeting authorizing the action.
- (e) If the declaration requires that votes on specified matters affecting the common interest community be cast by lessees rather than unit owners of leased units:
 - (1) this section applies to lessees as if they were unit owners;
- (2) unit owners that have leased their units to other persons may not cast votes on those specified matters; and
- (3) lessees are entitled to notice of meetings, access to records, and other rights respecting those matters as if they were unit owners.

- (f) Unit owners must also be given notice of all meetings at which lessees are entitled to vote.
- (g) Votes allocated to a unit owned by the association must be cast in any vote of the unit owners in the same proportion as the votes cast on the matter by unit owners other than the association.

Kansas Comment

Subsection (d) was amended by striking "In that event" and inserting "If a vote without a meeting is permitted and used" to more clearly state the situation in which the requirements apply. Subsections (a), (b) and (c) are default subsections. Subsections (f) and (g) are mandatory. Subsections (d) and (e) are default subsections which contain mandatory requirements.

ULC Comment

- 1. Subsection (e) addresses an increasingly important matter in the governance of common interest communities: the role of tenants occupying units owned by investors or other persons. Most present statutes require voting by owners in the association. However, it may be desirable to give lessees, rather than lessors, of units the right to vote on issues involving day-to-day operation both because the lessees may have a greater interest than the lessors and because it is desirable to have lessees feel they are an integral part of the common interest community.
- 2. This section contains provisions enabling unit owners to cast ballots in several ways besides during a physical meeting of the unit owners. It offers a very broad range of voting options.

The current text incorporates both existing and proposed laws from a significant number of states' corporate and common interest community statutes, as well as existing provisions of the Model Nonstock Corporation Act, and proposed amendments to that model act that were pending at the time this Act was promulgated.

- 3. Section 14(d) permits voting by ballot without the need for a meeting; it borrows significantly from Florida statutes governing the election of directors of the unit owners association; see Fla. Gen. Stat. 718.112 (Bylaws) (2)(d)2, 3.
- 4. Proxy voting has been the subject of some controversy in the states, primarily as a consequence of some unit owners seeking to collect very large numbers of undirected proxies to be cast at meetings where contested matters are to be voted on. While the declaration and bylaws may impose further restrictions on proxy voting, this section imposes only two: subsection (c)(5) limits the validity of a proxy only to the meeting at which it is cast; and (c)(6) limits the proxies that any one person may cast to a percent set by statute.

5. Subsection (g) confirms that votes allocated to units owned by the association will be counted towards the quorum for any meeting, but will otherwise not affect the outcome of the voting by other unit owners.

ORIGINAL SECTION 15. LIMITATIONS ON FORECLOSURE. (a) Regardless of provisions in the declaration, an association may not commence an action to foreclose a lien on a unit under this section unless:

- (1) the unit owner, at the time the action is commenced, owes a sum equal to at least [three] months of common expense assessments based on the periodic budget last adopted by the association pursuant to Section 20 and the unit owner has failed to accept or comply with a payment plan offered by the association; and
- (2) the executive board votes to commence a foreclosure action specifically against that unit.
- (b) Unless the parties otherwise agree, the association shall apply any sums paid by unit owners that are delinquent in paying assessments in the following order:
 - (1) unpaid assessments;
 - (2) late charges;
 - (3) reasonable attorney's fees and costs and other reasonable collection charges; and
 - (4) all other unpaid fees, charges, penalties, interest, and late charges.
- (c) If the only sums due with respect to a unit are fines and related sums imposed against the unit, a foreclosure action may not be commenced against the unit unless the association has a judgment against the unit owner with respect to the fines and related sums and has perfected a judgment lien against the unit under [insert reference to state statute on perfection of judgments].
- (d) Every aspect of a foreclosure, sale, or other disposition under this section, including the method, advertising, time, date, place, and terms, must be commercially reasonable.

Kansas Comment

The Committee struck original section 15 of the uniform act which related to limitations on foreclosure. It is the opinion of the Committee that Kansas statutory and case law on foreclosure is well established and such a section is unnecessary.

SECTION 4615. ASSOCIATION RECORDS.

- (a) The association, or its agents, must retain the following for five years unless otherwise provided:
- (1) detailed records of receipts and expenditures affecting the operation and administration of the association and other appropriate accounting records;
- (2) minutes of all meetings of its unit owners and executive board of directors other than executive sessions, a record of all actions taken by the unit owners or executive board of directors without a meeting, and a record of all actions taken by a committee in place of the executive board of directors on behalf of the association;
- (3) the names of unit owners in a form that permits preparation of a list of the names of all unit owners and the addresses at which the association communicates with them, in alphabetical order showing the number of votes each owner is entitled to cast;
- (4) its original or restated organizational documents, if required by law other than this act, bylaws and all amendments to them, and all rules currently in effect;
 - (5) all financial statements and tax returns of the association for the past three years;
- (6) a list of the names and addresses of its current executive board of director's members and officers;
 - (7) its most recent annual report delivered to the Secretary of State, if any;
- (8) financial and other records sufficiently detailed to enable the association to comply with other requirements of law;
 - (9) copies of current contracts to which it is a party;
- (10) records of executive board of directors or committee actions to approve or deny any requests for design or architectural approval from unit owners; and

- (11) ballots, proxies, and other records related to voting by unit owners for one year after the election, action, or vote to which they relate.
- (b) Subject to subsections (c) and (d) through (g), all records retained by an association must be available for examination and copying by a unit owner or the owner's authorized agent:
- (1) during reasonable business hours or at a mutually convenient time and location; and
- (2) upon [five] 10 days' written notice in a record reasonably identifying the specific records of the association requested.
- (c) Records retained by an association may be withheld from inspection and copying to the extent that they concern:
 - (1) personnel, salary, and medical records relating to specific individuals;
- (2) contracts, leases, and other commercial transactions to purchase or provide goods or services currently being negotiated;
 - (3) existing or potential litigation or mediation, arbitration, or administrative proceedings;
- (4) existing or potential matters involving federal, state, or local administrative or other formal proceedings before a governmental tribunal for enforcement of the declaration, bylaws, or rules;
- (5) communications with the association's attorney which are otherwise protected by the attorney-client privilege or the attorney work- product doctrine;
 - (6) information the disclosure of which would violate law other than this [act];
 - (7) records of an executive session of the executive board of directors; or

- (8) individual unit files other than those of the requesting owner.
- (d) An association may charge a reasonable fee for providing copies of any records under this section and for supervising the unit owner's inspection.
- (e) A right to copy records under this section includes the right to receive copies by photocopying or other means, including copies through an electronic transmission if available upon request by the unit owner. Copied records may be used for any reasonable purposes other than for commercial purposes.
 - (f) An association is not obligated to compile or synthesize information.
 - (g) Information provided pursuant to this section may not be used for commercial purposes.

Kansas Comment

In this section 15 (which was section 16 of the UCIOBORA), the Committee struck "executive board" and inserted "board of directors" where it appeared. In subsection (a), the Committee included the association's agents among those who must retain records and limited the amount of time records must be retained to five years, unless otherwise provided.

In subsection (b), the Committee expanded the application of the remainder of the section to records retained by the association which must be available for examination. Also, in subsection (b), the Committee expanded from five to 10 days the amount of written notice required to request such records. Because some records may be stored off-premises, it is the opinion of the Committee that additional time could be necessary to obtain those records.

Subsection (e) was amended to make a positive statement that copied records may be used for any reasonable purpose other than commercial purposes.

Subsection (g) was stricken because it is replaced by the new language in subsection (e). All provisions of this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

1. There are two significant policy issues connected with the association's records: first, what records the association must retain, and second, who has access to those records. This section addresses both issues.

The sections provisions are generally consistent with the cognate provisions of the Revised Model Nonstock Corporation Act, supplemented by specific provisions from other more modern State enactments and proposals in the homes association field. In this latter regard, the amendments, for example, authorize a unit owner to have access to a mailing list of unit owners, although the

association may retain the right to mail materials to unit owners at their last known addresses, in order to maintain the unit owners' privacy; and (ii) insure that minutes of all meetings must be kept.

- 2. Subsection (a) outlines the records that the Association must retain. The subsection generally avoids any substantive requirements as to how the Association's financial records are to be maintained, relying simply on the obligation to retain "detailed records of receipts" and "appropriate accounting records," "all financial statements and tax returns for the past 3 years" and, as in the original Act, "financial and other records sufficiently detailed to enable the association" to comply with law. The Act rejects any proposal that it require records to be maintained in accordance with "generally accepted accounting principles"; there are simply too many associations for which that would be an unnecessary and burdensome requirement.
- 4. The rules of various Bar associations make it imprudent for this Act to characterize the files of an attorney representing the association as property of the association and thereafter to assert that those files are nevertheless exempt from disclosure. For that reason, the Act does not address the status of an attorney's records, but subsection (c)(5)does make clear that communications with the association's attorney will generally be exempt from disclosure.
- 5. Many associations, especially smaller ones, may not have a complete set of records going back to the first organization of the association. This may be attributable to many reasons, and often are not the fault of the association or its current leadership. For example, the original declarant may not keep adequate records or may have failed to turn them over at transition. Managers may fail to turn records over when their contracts expire or are terminated.

In either of these cases, the cost of suing to obtain the missing records is prohibitive, or certainly out of proportion to the loss or inconvenience caused by the missing documents. In many smaller communities, the minutes and other non-financial records are kept by a volunteer officer of the association. If someone dies, is taken ill or moves away, the records are often lost. While this reality may impede the practical realization of the requirements in this Act, a goal of the section would be that over time, those "ancient" records may become of less practical importance in older associations, while newer associations will be guided by the requirements of this Section to adopt sound record keeping practices from the outset.

6. Subsection (b)(1) permits the parties to agree on a mutually acceptable time and place for the inspection of the records. If they do not agree, the subsection provides that the inspection shall take place "during reasonable business hours or at a mutually convenient time and location." Another concern has to do with smaller self-managed associations where the records may be kept by a unit owner who works during the day. If the volunteer treasurer cannot easily leave his or her job during the day to meet with a unit owner, it may be unreasonable to insist that the unit owner, or the unit owner's attorney or accountant, have the power to make the treasurer take a day off from work.

SECTION 1716. RULES.

- (a) Before adopting, amending, or repealing any rule, the executive board of directors shall give all unit owners notice of:
- (1) its intention to adopt, amend, or repeal a rule and provide the text of the rule or the proposed change; and
- (2) a date on which the executive board of directors will act on the proposed rule or amendment after considering comments from unit owners.
- (b) Following adoption, amendment, or repeal of a rule, the association shall notify the unit owners of its action and provide a copy of any new or revised rule.
- (c) An association may adopt rules to establish and enforce construction and design criteria and aesthetic standards if the declaration so provides. If the declaration so provides, the association shall adopt procedures for enforcement of those standards and for approval of construction applications, including a reasonable time within which the association must act after an application is submitted and the consequences of its failure to act.
- (d) A rule regulating display of the flag of the United States must be consistent with federal law. In addition, the association may not prohibit display on a unit or on a limited common element adjoining a unit of the flag of this state, or signs regarding candidates for public or association office or ballot questions, .but the The association may adopt rules governing the time, place, size, number, and manner of those displays that are not inconsistent with K.S.A. 58-3820, and amendments thereto.
- (e) Unit owners may peacefully assemble on the common elements to consider matters related to the common interest community, but the association may adopt rules governing the time, place, and manner of those assemblies.
 - (f) An association may adopt Association rules that affect the use of or behavior in units that

may be used for residential purposes, shall be adopted only to:

- (1) implement a provision of the declaration; or
- (2) regulate any behavior in or occupancy of a unit which violates the declaration or adversely affects the use and enjoyment of other units or the common elements by other unit owners;
- (3) restrict the leasing of residential units to the extent those rules are reasonably designed to meet underwriting requirements of institutional lenders that regularly make loans secured by first mortgages on units in common interest communities or regularly purchase those mortgages.
 - (g) An association's internal business operating procedures need not be adopted as rules.
 - (h) Every rule must be reasonable.

Kansas Comment

Section 17 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 16.

The phrase "board of directors" has replaced "executive board" when it appears.

Section (d), was amended by referencing existing Kansas law which is found at K.S.A. 58-3820 and thereby limiting the rules the association may adopt to the more specific description of what is appropriate in the display of political yard signs contained in the present statute.

In subsection (f), the first phrase was rewritten. In addition, the Committee struck subsection (f)(3) which limited the rules the association could adopt that effect the use of, or behavior in, units that may be used for residential purposes. The language that was stricken related to restricting the leasing of residential units to the extent those rules are reasonably designed to meet underwriting requirements of institutional lenders that regularly make loans secured by first mortgages on units in common interest communities or regularly purchased those mortgages.

All provisions in this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

- 1. This section addresses in a single location the Act's provisions concerning rules, including procedures governing how rules are to be adopted, and several constraints on what rules may address. The section also addresses constraints on the association's ability to regulate unit owner behavior, consistent with increasing sentiment to this effect in a number of states.
- 2. Subsections (a) and (b) enable unit owners to be aware of and involved in the rules adoption process. Under these procedures, the association must notify unit owners of its intention to

engage in changing the rules, and provide owners the text of any proposed change. Unit owners are also entitled to submit comments on the proposed rules, and to know of the date before which those comments may be submitted for consideration. Finally, under subsection (b), after a rule has been changed, the association must notify unit owners of the change, and provide them a copy of any new or revised rule.

3. The section addresses in several ways the subject of how and when the unit owners may be subjected to constraints on the owner's ability to make changes on the exterior appearance of a unit, or engage in construction activity on a unit – including a lot – that would be visible from outside the unit.

It is increasingly common throughout the United States for associations to assume the power to establish and enforce design criteria and control the exterior appearance of units, whether those units are in high rise condominiums, townhouses or single family homes on individually-owned lots. It is often asserted that the power of the association to maintain a uniformly attractive and consistent appearance throughout a community adds considerably to the value and desirability of many of these communities.

At the same time, anecdotal evidence suggests that many of the decisions made during the design approval process have been controversial and, in some instances, are subject to abuse by those charged with enforcing the design criteria.

This Section confirms the ability of the association to adopt such a process, but subject to significant constraints intended to protect the interests of individual unit owners.

This section first provides in subsection (c) that the ability of the association to regulate the design process must be affirmatively reserved in the declaration. It is common for the developer of a project to reserve such a right for itself to regulate aesthetic changes, and this requirement tracks that typical outcome.

Second, assuming the authority exists in the declaration, the section requires that the rules of the design committee must be formally promulgated by the executive board, including a procedure for prompt consideration of an application. The rules must also describe the consequences flowing from the failure of the design committee or other group charged with enforcement of the criteria to act on an application within the time frame stated. This does not mean that the necessary effect of that failure is that the application will be deemed approved; the rules may state a different consequence, as they are permitted to do. As a practical matter, however, one might expect that in the usual case, the parties to an application pending before a design committee may choose to formally agree to extend the time within which the committee is otherwise required to act, in order to avoid the consequences of a failure to act, and nothing in this Act is intended to affect the parties' ability to do so.

4. The Act creates a significant interplay between the declaration and the association's rules when the subject is the possibility of a change in a permitted "use occupancy, or behavior", as that term is used in subsection (f)(2).

Basically, the association's ability to adopt rules affecting use of or behavior in units is restricted to implementing provisions of the declaration, or regulating "any behavior in or occupancy of a unit which ...adversely affects the use and enjoyment of the units or the common elements by other unit owners." An obvious example of the latter would be noise regulations.

- 5. Subsections (d) and (e) expand existing federal law mandating that unit owners be allowed to display the flag of the United States, see The Freedom to Display the American Flag Act of 2005, Public Law 109-243 to provide greater freedom of action to unit owners. These sections increase the rights of unit owners to display flags of the enacting State, and political signs on their units. Like the federal law, the association is entitled to adopt regulations governing the time, place, size, number and manner of those displays." Similarly, the unit owners are entitled under subsection (e) to peacefully assemble on the common elements to consider matters related to the common interest community.
- 6. In perhaps the most significant change affecting rules, subsection (h) requires all rules to be "reasonable." The reasonableness standard, unlike the business judgment rule, is likely to lead to considerable controversy over the impact of particular rules; it may also lead to more constraint in the adoption of a variety of rules, which some unit owners may find onerous.

SECTION 4817. NOTICE TO UNIT OWNERS.

- (a) An association shall deliver any notice required to be given by the association under this act to any mailing or electronic mail address a unit owner designates. Otherwise, the association may deliver notices by:
 - (1) hand delivery to each unit owner;
- (2) hand delivery, United States mail postage paid, or commercially reasonable delivery service to the mailing address of each unit;
- (3) electronic means, if the unit owner has given the association an electronic address; or
 - (4) any other method reasonably calculated to provide notice to the unit owner.
- (b) The ineffectiveness of a good faith effort to deliver notice by an authorized means does not invalidate action taken at or without a meeting.

Kansas Comment

Section 18 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 17.

The Committee made no changes in the uniform act. All provisions in this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

- 1. This section recognizes that electronic notice to unit owners should only be permitted if unit owners agree to receive it. The new additional forms of notice are electronic transmissions and "(4) any other method reasonably calculated to provide notice to the unit owner." However, even if authorized, electronic notice would not be mandatory and the section would allow, depending on the circumstances, posting notice on bulletin boards, placing large and legible "sandwich boards" at the entrances to the common interest community, or other methods. As a consequence, the Act does not designate the method of giving notice in particular instances.
- 2. Just as the Act does not require that notice be given in a particular manner, it also does not require that the bylaws must specify the method by which notice is to be given. However, there is no reason why either the declaration or the bylaws could not specify a particular form or method of giving notice to the unit owners, and such a requirement would be binding on the association.

Whether or not the documents designate a specific form of notice, the declaration cannot override the statement in subsection (b) that protects actions taken at a meeting despite the failure of the notice to actually be delivered, so long as the notice was given in good faith.

3. Note that whatever form of notice may be used or required in a particular common interest community, Section 12(c) requires that the unit owners in that community receive the same notice of a meeting of the executive board that is given to the members of the board.

SECTION 1918. REMOVAL OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS.

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of the declaration or bylaws to the contrary, unit <u>Unit</u> owners present in person, by proxy, or by absentee ballot at any meeting of the unit owners at which a quorum is present, may remove any member of the executive board <u>of directors</u> and any officer elected by the unit owners, with or without cause, if the number of votes cast in favor of removal exceeds the number of votes cast in opposition to removal, but:
- (1) a member appointed by the declarant may not be removed by a unit owner vote during the period of declarant control;
- (2) if a member may be elected or appointed pursuant to the declaration by persons other than the declarant or the unit owners, that member may be removed only by the person that elected or appointed that member; and
- (3) the unit owners may not consider whether to remove a member of the executive board of directors or an officer elected by the unit owners at a meeting of the unit owners unless that subject was listed in the notice of the meeting.
- (b) At any meeting at which a vote to remove a member of the executive board of directors or an officer is to be taken, the member or officer being considered for removal must have a reasonable opportunity to speak before the vote.

Kansas Comment

Section 19 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 18.

Reference to "executive board" has been changed to "board of directors" each time it appears.

As drafted subsection (a) was mandatory, but the uniform act was silent as to whether subsection (b) was mandatory. The section is drafted to make subsection (b) mandatory as well.

ULC Comment

1. This section is intended to simplify the procedures available for removal of officers or directors. Thus, for example, while the section speaks in terms of a "meeting" of unit owners held for the purpose of removal, the section should be read in conjunction with Section 14 on voting. There, unless the declaration or bylaws prohibits or limits the various means by which voting may be conducted, the full panoply of decision making by vote would be available in the context of a "meeting" to consider removal. Accordingly, subject to any limitations contained in the community's documents, a removal vote could be taken by electronic or paper ballot.

2. For the same reasons discussed in comment 1, proxies will commonly be permitted in recall votes. The drafters recognize that generally, if both sides are soliciting proxies, the unit owners are likely to be given a realistic opportunity to choose between positions. In any event, there is no reason to distinguish those votes where proxies are permitted from others where they are prohibited.

3. While this Act simplifies the procedures for a removal vote, other provisions of the new section are designed to protect the reasonable expectations of other stakeholders in the process, and to reflect a basic sense of fairness. Thus, for example, the Act requires that any person who is subject to a removal vote must be given an opportunity to speak before the vote. Further, if the vote were to be taken by ballot without a meeting, then the procedures in the Act that allow informational materials to be distributed before the ballots are due would satisfy the policy underlying this provision.

Similarly, the Act provides that no one but the person who appoints or elects a director may remove that director, thus protecting the legitimate interests of parties who may be entitled under the provisions of a particular community to appoint "outside" directors.

SECTION 2019. ADOPTION OF BUDGETS; SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS.

- (a) The executive board of directors, at least annually, shall adopt a proposed budget for the common interest community for consideration by the unit owners. Not later than [30] days after adoption of a proposed budget, the executive board shall provide to all the unit owners a summary of the budget, including any reserves, and a statement of the basis on which any reserves are calculated and funded. Simultaneously, the board shall set a date not less than 10 days or more than 60 days after providing the summary for a meeting of the unit owners to consider ratification of the budget. Unless at that meeting a majority of all unit owners or any larger number specified in the declaration reject the budget, the budget is ratified, whether or not a quorum is present. If a proposed budget is rejected, the budget last ratified by the unit owners continues until unit owners ratify a subsequent budget. The board of directors shall propose and adopt a budget for the common interest community at least annually. Notice of any meeting at which a budget will be considered must be given to unit owners at least 10 days prior to the meeting date and, in accordance with Sec 12 (g), a copy of the proposal must be made available to any unit owner who requests it. At any meeting at which a budget or budget amendment is considered, in accordance with Sec. 12 (d), unit owners must be given a reasonable opportunity to comment on the proposal prior to the board taking action.
- (b) The executive board of directors, at any time, may propose a special assessment. Except as otherwise provided in subsection (c), the assessment is effective only if the executive board follows the procedures for ratification of a budget described in subsection (a) and the unit owners do not reject the proposed assessment. notice and consideration of any proposed special assessment shall follow the procedures set out in subsection (a).
- (c) If the executive board of directors determines by a two-thirds vote that a special assessment is necessary to respond to an emergency:

(1) the special assessment shall become effective immediately in accordance with the terms of the vote;

(2) notice of the emergency assessment must be provided promptly to all unit owners;

(3) the executive board of directors may spend the funds paid on account of the emergency assessment only for the purposes described in the vote.

Kansas Comment

Section 20 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 19.

Reference to "executive board" was replaced by reference to "board of directors" each time it appeared.

The Committee deleted subsection (a) of the uniform act and rewrote the section to provide notice requirements for meetings at which budgets are to be considered and to give unit owners the right to comment at the such meetings. The uniform act proposed a procedure whereby the budget is first adopted and thereafter the unit owners ratify the budget.

In subsection (b), which relates to special assessments, the Committee rewrote the section to provide for notice and consideration of any proposed special assessment and to utilize the same procedures established in subsection (a) that are used for adoption of the budget.

All provisions of this section are mandatory.

and

ULC Comment

1. Subsection (a) requires at least an annual budget for the association. The Section permits the unit owners to disapprove any proposed budget, but a rejection of the budget does not result in cessation of assessments until a budget is approved. Rather, assessments continue on the basis of the last approved periodic budget until the new budget is in effect.

2. The drafters extensively considered the issue of whether state law should mandate that the declarations of all common interest community associations create a reserve fund for the replacement of common elements as they become necessary and, if so, the extent to which they should be mandated. This is a subject of considerable scholarly debate and widely varying statutory treatment in the States.

As drafted, Section 20(a) requires the association to provide a summary of the budget – including any provisions for reserves and a statement of the basis on which the reserves are calculated. However, the Act does not require that the association maintain any reserves.

This is not the policy of all States. Some states either mandate that reserves be maintained or establish a default rule that such reserves be created in the absence of an affirmative vote by the

association membership not to create reserves. Other states require that the association board undertake periodic studies of the association's need for reserves.

It is also true that the underwriting guidelines used by Fannie Mae when deciding whether to purchase mortgages in common interest communities, requires in condominiums—but not in planned communities—not only that the association maintain reserves but that those reserves be "adequate," without defining the meaning of that word.

Evidence suggests that the needs, practices and expectations of unit owners in common interest communities differ widely, depending on, for example, the size, age, location and design of the physical structures as well as the age, economic circumstances and other demographic characteristics of the unit owners.

For example, small, self-managed associations commonly will maintain minimal reserves and will typically self-assess for repairs as needed. Other larger common interest communities, particularly in high maintenance buildings, may choose to establish substantially higher reserves.

On the other hand, it appears that very few associations maintain reserves at a level which would be actuarially required by evaluating the useful life of each component of the building and then accumulating reserves through increases in the monthly common charges paid by each owner, based on a schedule reflecting each component's useful life.

Associations confront the same choices that a single family homeowner confronts in thinking about, for example, the future need to replace the roof on her house. That owner has at least three choices: (i) she can set aside a sum of money each month in a segregated fund—perhaps even calling it a 'reserve' fund—so that when the roof or other parts of her home need to be replaced, she will have the needed funds; (2) she can maintain savings which are not segregated and pay cash from those savings at the time the roof replacement occurs; or (3) she can borrow the needed funds, and pay that money back during the years when she is enjoying a dry home. She can also use a combination of these techniques. Today, associations are increasingly engaged in borrowing as an alternative to self-funding of reserves by unit owners who may, in fact, be unable to realize the economic value of those reserve payments if the sell their units early in the life of the project.

The drafters were also mindful of the impact of a possible law mandating reserves on the needs of the elderly and those of limited economic means. In practice, older unit owners often resist reserves, while younger families may perceive a greater long term value in their creation. There are also special concerns for lower income owners in common interest communities, where poorer owners may default on their mortgages and abandon their units because of their inability to maintain mortgage payments and monthly common charges. If a statute were to mandate fully funded reserve payments, policy maker should then be concerned with two possible unintended consequences: first, such a mandate might so raise the monthly common charges that many potential buyers might be disqualified from homeownership; and second, the increases in charges might accelerate the collapse of common interest communities housing marginal income existing owners, who might abandon their units in increased numbers. Neither of these outcomes would be desirable.

At the same time, the drafters understood the natural interest of elected officials, who may often be faced with constituent demands that government 'do something' about a common interest community that has not prudently managed its affairs, with the result that needed repairs have not been made and the needed funding is not readily identifiable.

This Act does not require a particular outcome for reserves. It simply requires that the budget must affirmatively address the issue one way or the other. Over the long term, better education of declarants and unit owners alike, and the growth of 'best practices' in the common interest community field under the leadership of national and state interest groups, must provide the optimal outcome in each particular circumstance.

3. New subsection (b) addresses the issue of special assessments. The policy of the subsection assumes that, except in the case of an emergency, the executive board should follow the same procedures as apply in adoption of the regular periodic budget of the association.

On the other hand, it is not unusual for the executive board to be confronted with an emergency. In that event, as discussed in subsection (c), if 2/3s of the executive board determine that an emergency exists, the board may dispense with the unit owner vote and proceed directly to adopt a special assessment. The balance of subsection (c) describe various safeguards designed to avoid abusive use of the emergency special assessment.

Note that the term "special assessment" is not defined. However, as used in subsection (b), it refers to any assessment that is not part of the regular budget. Given the safeguards contained in (b), it is not likely that the procedure will be commonly abused.

4. The Act as presently drafted does not limit or prohibit the imposition of "so-called" transfer fees. It does require their disclosure.

Some courts, in reviewing similar statutory provisions, have held that transfer fees are not permitted; see, e.g., Micheve, LLC vs. Wyndham Place at Freehold Condominium Association, 885 A.2d 35 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2005.).

In any event, this Act takes no position on the validity or suitability of "transfer fees", whether imposed by the declarant, the association, or some third party. Plainly, there are abusive circumstances where some persons assert the right to be paid a fee on transfer of title; some states have sought to regulate such efforts. In other cases, advocates assert that transfer fees can measurably assist in the betterment of common interest communities, despite the fact that the fees are generally levied against persons who are departing from those communities and are therefore not likely to enjoy whatever theoretical benefits are to be realized as a consequence of these fees. The subject becomes more significant, of course, depending on the magnitude of the fees, and the extent to which the fees are paid at a time of rapidly increasing – rather than decreasing – property values.

SECTION 2120. EFFECT OF VIOLATIONS ON RIGHTS OF ACTION; ATTORNEY'S FEES.

(a) A declarant, association, unit owner, or any other person subject to this act may bring an action to enforce a right granted or obligation imposed by this act, the declaration, or the bylaws.

[Punitive damages may be awarded for a willful failure to comply with this [act].] The court may award reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

(b) Parties to a dispute arising under this act, the declaration, or the bylaws may agree to resolve the dispute by any form of binding or nonbinding alternative dispute resolution, but:

(1) a declarant may agree with the association to do so only after the period of declarant control has expired; and

(2) an agreement to submit to any form of binding alternative dispute resolution must be in a record authenticated by the parties.

(c) The remedies provided by this act shall be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed. However, consequential or special damages may not be awarded except as specifically provided in this [act] or by other rule of law.

Kansas Comment

Section 21 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 20.

In subsection (a), the Committee struck, "Punitive damages may be awarded for a willful failure to comply with this act." In subsection (c), the Committee struck, "However, consequential or special damages may not be awarded except as specifically provided in this act or by other rule of law."

Readers of this section should be aware of K.S.A. 60-3611 relating to immunity from liability for volunteers of certain nonprofit organizations.

The Committee notes that subsection (b) allows the parties to a dispute arising under this act, the declaration or the bylaws to agree to resolve the dispute by any form of binding or nonbinding

alternative dispute resolution. The Committee supports alternative dispute resolution and is in agreement with section 38-33.3–124(1) of the Colorado Revised Statutes which reads as follows:

"...the cost, complexity, and delay inherent in court proceedings make litigation a particularly inefficient means of resolving neighborhood disputes. Therefore, common interest communities are encouraged to adopt protocols that make use of mediation or arbitration as alternatives to, or preconditions upon, the filing of a complaint between a unit owner and association in situations that do not involve an imminent threat to the peace, health, or safety of the community."

All provisions of this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

1. This section provides a general cause of action or claim for relief for failure to comply with the Act by either a declarant or any other person subject to the Act's provisions. Such persons might include unit owners, the declarant, or the association itself. A claim for appropriate relief might include damages, injunctive relief, specific performance, rescission, or reconveyance if appropriate under the law of the State, or any other remedy normally available under state law. The section specifically refers to "any person or class of persons" to indicate that any relief available under the state class action statute would be available in circumstances where a failure to comply with this Act has occurred. This section, in bracketed text, permits punitive damages to be awarded in the case of willful failure to comply with the Act and also permits court costs and attorney's fees to be awarded in the discretion of the court to any party that prevails in an action.

The language of subsection (a) is intentionally broad, and emphasizes the traditional authority of a court in equity to fashion a remedy suited to the circumstances of the case. Importantly, the provisions of this section would apply with equal force to a violation of either this Act or the declaration or bylaws by "any person" besides the declarant—including, for example, the association in its dealings with unit owners, a property manager or unit owners whose own behavior violates those same laws or instruments.

In appropriate cases involving association or executive board activities, the court might grant relief in the form of requiring new elections, removal of officers from office, and orders requiring offending parties to make the association whole for improperly expended funds. A civil action may lie, in an appropriate case, for failure of the executive board to comply with the "open meeting" requirement of Section 12. These examples are not intended to exhaust the traditional authority of a judge to grant "appropriate relief", and that authority is emphasized by the specific grant of discretion to authorize punitive damages or attorneys fees, as the circumstances warrant.

- 2. Subsection (b) reflects the Conference's judgment that resolving disputes by non-judicial means is a desirable outcome, subject to the limitations contained in this section.
- 3. Nothing in this section prohibits a unit owner from seeking independently to enforce any provision of the declaration, bylaws or rules. However, limitations in those instruments may require that the unit owner participate in some form of alternative dispute resolution before commencing suit.

SECTION 2221 SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF LAW;

CONFLICTS. The principles of law and equity, including the law of corporations and any other form of organization authorized by the law of this state [,and unincorporated associations], the law of real estate, and the law relative to capacity to contract, principal and agent, eminent domain, estoppel, fraud, misrepresentation, duress, coercion, mistake, receivership, substantial performance, or other validating or invalidating cause supplement the provisions of this act except to the extent inconsistent with this act. If there is a conflict between this act and other law of this state, this act prevails.

Kansas Comment

Section 22 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 21. The Committee made no other changes in the uniform act.

The provisions of this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

- 1. This Act displaces existing law relating to common interest communities and other law only as stated by specific sections and by reasonable implication therefrom. Moreover, unless specifically displaced by this statute, common law rights are retained. The listing given in this section is merely an illustration, no listing could be exhaustive.
- 2. The bracketed language concerning unincorporated associations should be deleted if the enacting State requires incorporation of a unit owners' association

SECTION 2322. UNIFORMITY OF APPLICATION AND CONSTRUCTION. In

applying and construing this uniform act, consideration must be given to the need to promote uniformity of the law with respect to its subject matter among the states that enact it.

Kansas Comment

Section 23 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 22. The Committee made no other changes in the uniform act.

The provisions of this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

This Act should be construed in accordance with its underlying purpose of making the law uniform with respect to all forms of common interest communities, as well as the purposes stated in the Prefatory Note of simplifying, clarifying, and modernizing the law of common interest communities, promoting the interstate flow of funds to common interest communities, and protecting consumers, purchasers, and borrowers against common interest community practices which may cause unreasonable risk of loss to them. Accordingly, the test of each section should be read in light of the purpose and policy of the rule or principle in question, and also of the Act as a whole.

SECTION 2423. RELATION TO ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES IN GLOBAL

AND NATIONAL COMMERCE ACT. This act modifies, limits, and supersedes the federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, 15 U.S.C. Section 7001, et seq., but does not modify, limit, or supersede Section 101(c) of that act, 15 U.S.C. Section 7001(c), or authorize electronic delivery of any of the notices described in Section 103(b) of that act, 15 U.S.C. Section 7003(b).

Kansas Comment

Section 24 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 23. The Committee made no other changes in the uniform act.

The provisions of this section are mandatory.

ULC Comment

In 2000, Congress enacted the "Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act", 106 PUB.L.NO. 229, 114 Stat. 464, 15 U.S.C. § 7001, et seq. (popularly known as "E-Sign"). E-Sign largely tracks the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (UETA). Section 102 of E-Sign, entitled "Exemption to preemption", provides in pertinent part that:

- (a) A State statute, regulation, or other rule of law may modify, limit, or supersede the provisions of section 101 with respect to State law only if such statute, regulation, or rule of law—
- (1) constitutes an enactment or adoption of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act as approved and recommended for enactment in all the States by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 1999" [with certain exceptions] or
- (2)(A) specifies the alternative procedures or requirements for the use or acceptance (or both) of electronic records or electronic signatures to establish the legal effect, validity, or enforceability of contracts or other records, if [they meet certain criteria] and
- (B) if enacted or adopted after the date of the enactment of this Act, makes specific reference to this Act.

15 U.S.C. § 7002(a). The inclusion of this section is necessary to comply with the requirement that the act "make [] specific reference to this Act" pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 7002(a)(2)(B) if the act contains a provision authorizing electronic records or signatures in place of writings or written signatures.

NEW SECTION 24. K.S.A. 58-3119 is hereby amended to read as follows:

58-3119. Same; contents. The bylaws may provide for the following: , in a manner that is consistent with the Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act, and amendments thereto

- (a) The election from among the apartment owners of a board of directors, the number of persons constituting the same, and that the terms of at least one-third (1/3) of the directors shall expire annually; the powers and duties of the board; the compensation, if any, of the directors; the method of removal from office of directors; and whether or not the board may engage the services of a manager or managing agent.
- (b) Method of calling meetings of the apartment owners; what percentage, if other than a majority of apartment owners, shall constitute a quorum.
- (c) Election of a president from among the board of directors who shall preside over the meetings of the board of directors and of the association of apartment owners.
- (d) Election of a secretary who shall keep the minute book wherein resolutions shall be recorded.
 - (e) Election of a treasurer who shall keep the financial records and books of account.
- (f) Maintenance, repair and replacement of the common areas and facilities and payments therefore, including the method of approving payment vouchers.
 - (g) Manner of collecting from the apartment owners their share of the common expenses.
- (h) Designation and removal of personnel necessary for the maintenance, repair and replacement of the common areas and facilities.
- (i) Method of adopting and of amending administrative rules and regulations governing the details of the operation and use of the common areas and facilities.

- (j) Such restrictions on and requirements respecting the use and maintenance of the apartments and the use of the common areas and facilities, not set forth in the declaration, as are designed to prevent unreasonable interference with the use of their respective apartments and of the common areas and facilities by the several apartment owners.
 - (k) The percentage of votes required to amend the bylaws.
- (l) Other provisions as may be deemed necessary for the administration of the property consistent with this act.

Kansas Comment

This section is amended to be compatible with the Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act.

NEW SECTION 25. K.S.A. 58-3120 is hereby amended to read as follows:

58-3120. Books of receipts and expenditures; availability for examination. The manager or board of directors, as the case may be, shall keep detailed, accurate records in chronological order, of receipts and expenditures affecting the common areas and facilities, specifying and itemizing the maintenance and repair expenses of the common areas and facilities and any other expenses incurred. Such records and the vouchers authorizing the payments shall be available for examination by the apartment owners at convenient hours of week days, pursuant to the rights and limitations of section 15 of the Kansas Uniform Common Interest Communities Bill of Rights Act, and amendments thereto.

Kansas Comment

This section was amended to be consistent with the Uniform Common Interest Bill of Rights Act.

NEW SECTION 26. REPEALER

Repeal: K.S.A. 58-3119, K.S.A. 58-3120, and K.S.A. 58-3830 are hereby repealed..

Kansas Comment

K.S.A. 58-3830, which reads as follows:

"58-3830 (a) An association shall:

- (1) Open all meetings of the board of the homeowner's association to all homeowners; and
- (2) adopt an annual budget and within 30 days after the adoption of such budget shall make a copy thereof available to any member of the association upon the request of such member.
- (b) For the purposes of this section, "association" means a nonprofit homeowners association as defined in K.S.A. 60-3611 and amendments thereto."

is repealed because the requirements of subsection (a)(1) are covered by section 12 of the UCIOBORA and the requirements of subsection (a)(2) are covered by section 19 of the UCIOBORA.

The UCIOBORA defines "Association", so the definition in subsection (b) is unnecessary.

1	SECTION 2427. EFFECTIVE DATE. This [act] takes effect [date]. This act shall		
2	take effect and be in force on and after January 1, 2011.		
3			
4	Kansas Comment		
5	Section 24 of the UCIOBORA was renumbered as section 27.		
6	Because the act may either require or make advisable changes in some bylaws and som		
7	covenants, and because it is appropriate to allow time for educational programs about the act to		
8	be presented to unit owners, boards and developers, the effective date of this act will be January		
n	1 2011		



SENATOR, 7TH DISTRICT 6264 GLENFIELD FAIRWAY, KANSAS 66205 (913) 677-3582

STATE CAPITOL, ROOM 135-E TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612 (785) 296-7369 TERRIE.HUNTINGTON@SENATE.KS.GOV



TOPEKA

SENATE CHAMBER

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS
MEMBER: ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION
ETHICS AND ELECTIONS
PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELFARE
LOCAL GOVERNMENT
TRANSPORTATION

February 15, 2010

Testimony by Senator Terrie Huntington Senate Committee on Local Government Senate Bill 470

Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act

Chairman Reitz, Vice Chairman Wagle and Ranking Minority Member Kultala: Thank you for the opportunity to speak to you about SB 470. Last year the committee referred HB 2253 to the Judicial Council, and you will be hearing from Professor Michael J. Davis about the Council process.

For your review, I have included my testimony from last year.

To summarize Homes Association legislation, in 2007, an attorney who lives in Prairie Village and is a member of a Homes Association came to me with concerns about the election process whereby the Board of Directors are voted upon to serve a specific term. He was also concerned about a dispute resolution process, one that could ultimately satisfy the grievance by the HOA or a property owner toward another property owner or toward the Association or the HOA Board of Directors. We worked with the revisor and brought before House Elections & Local Government HB 2445.

In 2008, after hearing from many interested parties about the need for reform of Homes Association governance, the bill was re-written, HB 2826, and incorporated language to more specifically put into statute rules for HOA boards. It also established an education and mediation process through the Kansas Attorney General's office. Another provision provided that the court award costs, expenses and attorney fees to the prevailing party in a civil action. That bill was heard and passed out of the Commerce & Labor Committee, passed out of the House, and subsequently went to Senate Judiciary where it had a hearing but there was not time to work the bill.

In 2009, more interested property owners entered the process, and a bill was drafted to address apartments and condominiums, and the draft went from a simple two-page bill to a 5-page bill that addressed dispute resolution, established a mediation process, provided that the board of directors give 30-day notice before adopting new assessments (to allow for feedback), provided for an audit of receipts and expenditures, and again added a provision that the AG's office, in the Consumer Protection Division, provide a list of mediators that could address grievances, in order to minimize the need for civil litigation.

STATE HOUSE TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612 (785) 296-7649 TOLL FREE (DURING SESSION) 1-800-432-3924

Senate Local Government

2-15-2010

Attachment _____3

- Page 2 -

Knowing that there were many questions and concerns, the Chairman and committee wisely sent the bill to the Judicial Council for review. I was asked to serve on the committee that reviewed the bill, and with travel schedules, was able to attend two of the four meetings.

This fall there was an article in the Sun Newspapers, a local Johnson County publication, featuring an association that has testified before this committee about issues they faced. That prompted letters from residents in other HOAs to write their Representatives, asking them to support the bill addressing changes in the Common Interest Owners Bill of Rights Act. You will hear today from residents in Wichita who need a change in the statutes to facilitate progress in their HOA. You've heard former Representative Jason Watkins testify in favor of these bills, and he resides in and was President of his HOA in west Wichita.

What you have before you today is a comprehensive bill, model legislation, which addresses the governance of apartments, townhomes, and gated communities. It reminds the Boards of Directors of Homes Associations that there are rules and procedures to follow, that adherence to bylaws is mandatory, that citizens have a voice in the establishment of the rules and regulations under which they must abide, that financial statements are the property of the Homes Association members, and as such, they can be viewed and/or copied, upon request.

Does this bill solve all of the problems that you'll hear about today? Probably not. But it is a necessary first step that consolidates into our Kansas statutes rules and regulations for associations that are the first line of governance for property owners.

Thank you for your affirmative consideration of SB 470.

#

STATE OF KANSAS

TERRIE W. HUNTINGTON REPRESENTATIVE, 25TH DISTRICT 6264 GLENFIELD FAIRWAY KANSAS 66205 (913) 677-3582



TOPEKA

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS CHAIR: HIGHER EDUCATION MEMBER: EDUCATION BUDGET SELECT COMMITTEE ON KPERS JOINT COMMITTEE ON PENSIONS INVESTMENTS & BENEFITS

March 17, 2009

Testimony by Representative Terrie Huntington House Committee on Local Government House Bill 2253 Homes Associations and Associations of Apartment Owners

Chairman Schwartz, Vice Chairman Holmes and Ranking Minority Garcia: thank you for hearing House Bill 2253 pertaining to Homes Associations. As you are no doubt aware, more and more Kansas residents are choosing to live in maintenance-free developments, whether they are gated communities, patio homes, or apartments. This housing choice is not limited to retired citizens, but is also the choice for citizens who don't want the responsibility of home maintenance and lawn care.

Many of these residences are governed by Homes Associations, for which homeowners pay into a maintenance fund large sums of money in order to receive snow removal services, lawn and landscaping services, street maintenance, roof repairs or exterior painting. These associations are governed by a board of directors elected by members of the Homes Association, usually with annual or bi-annual elections.

HB 2253 is not directed to those Homes Associations that govern communities, where members pay a small annual fee to receive a directory or for garbage collection. It does not apply to those Homes Association Boards that abide by their bylaws, have open meetings, publish annual financial statements, and determine by committee how dues shall be spent.

What this bill attempts to solve is a series of problems incurred by residents of Homes Associations whose Board of Directors circumvent the bylaws, which often times prevents resolution to grievances brought before the Board. This is a property rights bill, and it is the first step in codifying what many states have legislated in several pages of statutes. It is a statewide issue, with associations in Johnson County, Sedgwick County and Shawnee County.

It directs homes association governing boards to abide by their bylaws, to hold open meetings and elections, and if not, provides a method through the Consumer Protection Division of the Attorney General's office to mediate disputes so that residences may resolve issues without hiring an attorney and resorting to a civil suit.

Passage of this bill will set a course for some homeowners to finally resolve costly disputes that could have been resolved if the Homes Association had followed their own rules.

Thank you for your thoughtful consideration of HB 2253, which passed the House last year as HB 2686 on a vote of 109-14, had a hearing in the Senate but, for lack of time, was not worked.

STATE HOUSE TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612 (785) 296-7649

State of Kansas House of Representatibes



10900 W. 104TH STREET OVERLAND PARK, KANSAS 66214 (913) 492-2253

Gene Rardin

16TH DISTRICT STATE CAPITOL TOPEKA, KANSAS 66612 (785) 296-7698 rardin@house.state.ks.us

MEMORANDUM

TO:

Senator Roger Reitz, Chair

Senator Susan Wagle, Vice Chair

Senator Kelly Kultala, Ranking Minority

Members, Senate Committee on Local Government

FROM:

Representative Gene Rardin, District 16

DATE:

February 15, 2010

RE:

SB 470-AN ACT Enacting the Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owners

Bill of Rights Act.

I am offering this testimony in support of SB470.

This bill takes needed steps to curb mismanagement and slip-shod business practices which have been demonstrated in some Kansas Common Interest Community Associations.

Victims of these practices, some of whom are here today, are looking to us, their state legislature, to move to rectify this situation.

As state legislators, we simply cannot allow these unregulated common interest community associations, in some cases handling millions of dollars in funds and holding the quality of life and financial well-being of their members in their hands, to operate without effective oversight, regulation and clearly accessible, low cost alternatives for redress of legitimate grievances by their members.

I urge your support for this bill.

Senate Local Government					
2-15-2010					
Attachment	4				

Senate Committee on Local Government Testimony on Uniform Common Owners Interest Bill of Rights Act SB 470 February 10, 2010 Sylvia J. McCombs

My name is Sylvia McCombs. I have owned my condo at Cedar Lakes Village (CLVCA) for 11 Years. Currently, I am CFO of McCurdy Auction, LLC, a real estate auction specialty company. I have a business degree from our own Wichita State University (emphasis in accounting) and hold a CPA certificate from Kansas. I worked several years as an Aircraft Financing Analyst at Raytheon, and Finance Manager and Corporation Treasurer of a 17 unit restaurant management company for 12 years. Previously I was a licensed Real Estate Broker in Kansas.

I became aware of the nature of conflict between HOA Boards and homeowners in 2005 when I was physically bruised and assaulted by a Board member trying to block my inquiry into the clubhouse cocktail bar records of the association. I discovered about \$5,000 was missing. I found it. He had it; for two years. The director was charged with battery and disorderly conduct and took a plea bargain to a lesser charge.

In 2006, I was elected to the Board and to the Office of Treasurer for a two-year term from February 2006 to February 2008, and was re-elected in February 2008 as both Director and Treasurer. I won election also to the larger Cedar Lakes Village Landowners Association (a mostly single-family HOA) as both Director and Treasurer of that organization for a term.

The elected 2008 Board of Directors (two year terms) of Cedar Lakes Condo Association has not respected the rights of homeowners, nor put their best interest above the personal animus they feel towards anyone who does not completely agree with them. When I began to disagree with the position of the President, I was threatened and began to experience the intimidation that the President has shown towards me and others. The President's daily e-mail to selected supporter homeowners, is used as a weapon of insult to those who differ with him. There is no practical way to respond, short of spending a couple hundred a week on postage. This e-mail is sent using his state e-mail: (DOL.KS.GOV). There have been various false accusations against homeowners of being a Rapist, Adultery, theft etc. The HOA is run like a military installation. When a homeowner requested records and e-mailed the state statute (KSA 58-3120 access to records.) Here is the response he got: ***note: this homeowner had not filed a lawsuit, but the Board did! "And orders are entered against prisoners who continue to file wasteful lawsuits. You are just harassing us and we will not dance to your tune."

Yes, you just read the word "Prisoners". We need laws to define our Rights and stop this abuse and have a way to enforce them without spending our entire retirement savings.

The Board held a meeting without proper notice on May 21, 2008 to file a lawsuit against the former manager (and homeowner/member) for electronic data. When I wrote that I had already received the data before the lawsuit was filed, and that all the other Board members had been notified of such, a closed meeting on July 24, 2008 was held where I had no protection by other members, of Board harassment and intimidation of me for not supporting the totally fabricated charges. The suit was dismissed by CLVCA when it became obvious that the suit was frivolous. I had prepared to resign as Treasurer at that meeting, and did. The new management company was obviously inexperienced and the new Board refused to hold them accountable to members. I could not jeopardize my standing as a CPA and be a part of this. Bills were not getting paid and there were no work orders as required in the Management Contract. Contract breaches were frequent.

Senate Local Government	
2-15-2010	

Attachment

From there, things got even worse. The President <u>again sued</u> the former property Manager and his company without a vote or authorization from the Board. When a countersuit was filed by the defendants, the president lied to the members telling them that our insurance company would pay for the attorneys and there was no risk because the insurance would pay any judgment if we lost.

He led us to believe there was NO WAY we would lose. He used his influence as a lawyer and called the countersuit a "House of Cards...House of Cards" as he laid playing cards down on the table while making his speech. He said all this after he had <u>already received a letter of denial</u> from the Insurance Carrier. Had the homeowners known the truth, they would have demanded immediate settlement. The Board lost the case completely and we got stuck with a judgment and expenses of about \$150,000. Try getting insurance records from this HOA!! The lawsuit should have never been filed by ONE board member acting alone. Where is our Recourse?

Because I was opposed to this wasteful litigation, I suffered public humiliation at the hands of the Board Members led by the President, a former military captain, removed for fraternizing with a female subordinate, a <u>lawyer and KS administrative hearing judge</u>. A military style "Statement of Particulars" was mailed with the annual homeowner packet intimating among other things that I was sleeping with the married former manager breached my duty by paying the assessed dues *timely* to the larger association and several other salacious / slanderous charges.

In the Fall of 2008 a members' meeting was called to vote to remove me. I brought an attorney to try to reason with them, that they were slandering me and should stop. The President called the police and not only had him removed from the meeting, but told the police he was a "Judge" and had my attorney removed from MY property. The President outlawed members from recording meetings (but he can tape us) so that no evidence should be brought public about his tyrannical behavior. For example, he told the members that: I could be tried, and "placed under house arrest and stripped of my privileges."

He would not allow me to defend myself. When I attempted to show a power point, he ripped my computer cords from the wall; and had one of his fellow intimidators take my screen down. A vote was called (even though there was no quorum) and I was never allowed to speak in my defense. Trying to get the Board to stop slandering me, cost me \$3,800.00 in attorney fees and never have they retracted or apologized. The vote FAILED TO REMOVE ME, which just angering that dictator even more.

In the summer of 2009, another of the president's wolf pack Board discharged a taser (twice) in the Board meeting room in the direction of the former manager's wife and I. I called the police and made a report. The President then wrote that he "Found that I should be fined" \$100.00 for calling the police. It cost me \$2,000 in attorney fees to fight for my civil rights to call the police when I am in fear for my safety from the use of a weapon in the Board room.

When I gave a deposition in the lawsuit, and did not agree to all the wrong things he had done, the president held a closed meeting for just the Board two hours after my deposition and he threatened to "SHRED ME." The president wrote to me that he wished the police man on site when our clubhouse burned down would have tasered me because "a little shock therapy would do you good".

After many, many incidents of denial to requests for records from both, myself as a Director, and several other members who are so frightened of being sued by the President; a member was sued under the stalking statutes for writing official requests for the records and formally complaining about the president. One member was sued by the President when he published a report about a

private meeting in which the President was just criticized. The judge threw it out. The homeowner is still without the maintenance he requested, as retaliation for his criticism.

Since I attempted to get the records on behalf of members I have been accused of breach of duty and on January 13th, 2010 at a supposed proper Board meeting, they voted to deny my rights as a director. The President swore to "Rain the Board of accountancy" down upon me. When I read the Kansas Law regarding records access, I was called a Bitch and told to Go F&ck myself. The President screamed "You're damn right I want you to sue me. I'll drive you to the courthouse."

All of these events were orchestrated and carried out by the President of the Board, who is a lawyer and administrative law judge, but who has put fear in the minds and hearts of my fellow homeowners who cannot afford the attorney fees to defend themselves. They are afraid to ask for their rights to be upheld, when contracts are not bid for and \$150,000 is wasted on really improper contracting for roofs; or \$125,000 wasted for attorney fees and judgments against the Association. Now their common property is in danger of being destroyed and not rebuilt as the law demands, and they do not know their rights. Owners are too scared without clear laws to stop the spending. Our property values now plummet. Prices have dropped disproportionally to the market. We cannot give our homes away. I have lost \$20,000 in value in the last year. This is not a market reaction, but rather a lack of amenities such as paint, sprinklers, siding, pools, club house and I have spent thousands on attorneys, just to try protecting my name and career. I haven't even addressed the deferred maintenance that must be done in order to sell my unit.

No one wants to live in this dictatorship, we effectively have no rights. Please pass this Bill of Rights. The condition of the property has suffered due to all the litigation from no clear laws and I urge you to not only pass legislation but insure that it can be enforced without homeowners going bankrupt trying to protect their homes. Please make Section 20 c mandatory, not just advisory. Such a penalty protects everyone's Rights except the lawyers and even the Ks. Judicial Council wrote this section. We need your help badly.

Thank-you for your work on our behalf,

Sylvia J McCombs

If there is no penalty [for] disobedience, the resolutions or commands which pretend to be laws will, in fact, amount to nothing more than advice or recommendation." (Alexander Hamilton, Federalist #15 December 1st, 1787)

Senate Committee on Local Government Testimony on Uniform Common Owners Interest Bill of Rights Act SB 470 February 10, 2010

Sylvia J. McCombs

Wichita, KS

Propoent

Commentary on SB 470

Section 8: Ability for the Board to incur Loans:

This dilutes the purpose for a budget and allows the Board to outspend the allowed assessments for the current year plus reserves as provided for in the declarations. This is dangerous to the health of the community and <u>loans should only be allowed by a vote of the members</u>.

Our association spent this year's dues on last years unauthorized lawsuit by using prepaid dues and thus creating a loan in fact and now we have reduced services that were guaranteed by our declaration because the cash flow is gone. This would be exactly the same in a loan procured from an outside lender. Dues would be used for debt service instead of maintenance. Our property values are plummeting because of lack of cash to perform upkeep on the condominium exteriors.

Section 15 dealing with rights to records: This should not affect (repeal) the apartment ownership act, but apply to only to non-declaration controlled HOA's, or specifically:

Section (b) (2) I recommend a change to this to allow homeowners a shorter time to access records. Also, it should not be required for a homeowner to specify beyond category, i.e. Payables, GL, contracts, because we cannot list to examine that which we don't know exists.

Our association pays \$48,000 to a professional management company to keep our records in proper order. They should not need 10 days to allow access for examination. Potentially they might need time to PRODUCE copies, but examination needs to be spontaneous to protect records from willful destruction. Our owners have been the victim of records destruction by directors upon request for them.

Section 15 (c) (5) Deals with attorney billings. Owners MUST be allowed to see billings after the case is settled. Our owners paid over \$100,000 for a lawsuit that was not authorized and we MUST be allowed recourse and proof as to who was using our attorney and WHY?

Allowing contracts (which are required to be put out to bid and opened in public) should not be affected by this Bill.

Owners should be allowed to tape open meetings to protect themselves and preserve the truth. Our association has forbid us from taping. (But the Board can tape us).

Kansas Legislature

Senate Local Government Committee

SB470 - Codification of Common Owner Interest Laws Summary of Testimony of Jerry L. Berg on Tuesday, Feb. 9, Tuesday, at 9:30 am

Respectfully:

Thank you for the chance to provide my experiences as they relate to a vital need, and for the work of this committee. I have extensive background as a commercial real estate agent and property manager of multi-owner properties and as an owner of these types of properties. I have served as President and in other offices on Boards of H.O.A.'s and condominium. I have followed your work closely. I generally and strongly agree with the recommendations of the Kansas Judicial Council Report of December 4, 2009. I am appalled at the lack of knowledge of how decent property management of multi-owner (common ownership interest) properties should run; and those that would oppose this bill to profit from shoddy operations. I have been led to understand (not surprisingly) that fear tactics like "burdensome paperwork" "government intrusion" have been use by a few management companies for an opposition campaign, usually by people that will not sign there name or factually support their positions. Those people that have lived the horrors of "Private Governments" and "Boys Gone Wild" cannot tolerate another year without a basic Bill of Rights.

Before I deal with narrow issues, a base observation needs to be made about the need for such codification. Condo living is different from more common and traditional arrangements. The benefit of communal condominium living is a higher standard of residential life derived from efficiently living closely with each other and sharing common amenities and the expenses of keeping them. Close living begs tolerance in being considerate of your neighbors. It is for that reason and that all "real" property is commonly and privately owned that the owners and the Directors elected to protect and govern the affairs and conflicts that arise from this form of ownership must have a clear set of Rights and Duties that allows for expected standards of conduct of the residents and fair Board decisions in conflicts between owners, including the Association as a whole. Members own their unit, but also own the buildings and grounds in common with the other homeowners. This gives each homeowner a property interest in the use of other units, and the right to expect reasonable standards of conduct to be maintained. Kansas Boards of Directors have simple failed to set and protect such standards.

The nature of Kansans you are working to protect is unique. People like me (strong willed, but dedicated to service to others first) rarely end up living in a condominium. Generally a shared common area residential property attracts those who delegate the care and management of their property in large part to others and do not want to have to be directly involved. Many for one reason or another are very uncomfortable in dealings with their rights, issues and/or other people in general, especially those that are of a controlling nature. By their very nature they tend to be easily taken advantage. In comparison the elected directors are often those seeking some modicum of political power over others (the "big fish in a small pond" syndrome). Adding to that poor mix is the fact that such close living mandates detailed protections (defined rights good rules) to follow strictly. Unfortunately, many "big fish" have little regard for those necessary rules and ignore or abuse them. Statutory codification with detailed "Rights" is more likely to succeed than just KSA 58-3107, that requires "strict compliance" with Declarations and Condo Rules, etc:

My major reservation from the Uniform Act and the Report is in phrase §20(c) "The remedies provided by this act shall be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully preformed." It simply is not strong enough. The Judicial Council is not going to recommend strong enough language to take away judicial discretion on enforcement. American judges are so inclined against awards of fees and costs that there is just way

Senate Local Go	overnment
	15.2010
Attachment	6

too much wiggle room in that language. People like an Kansas Administrative Law Judge, lawyer and the ultimate "big fish", once in power can simply litigate sheepish people into the loss of their rights without stronger wording. CLVCA has the "English rule" (essentially, loser pays) but with the judges discretion "may"; which is very much like the proposed phrase "to the end..is put". The word "shall" needs to be added. If not, judges will do as they are trained and taught; and despots will dispose of rights. (I was also a judge for 4 years.)

My specific suggestion makes sense. Section 20(a), which is really only about subject matter jurisdiction, needs to have the last sentence moved to Section 20(c) on enforcement; and changed to read: "The court may shall award reasonable attorney fees and costs." Without such obviously intended teeth in the enforcement section this is little more than rhetoric – much needed guidance I will admit and that I strongly support, but mostly good for lawyers and not the depth of help these tragic stories deserve. I knew (and lived) some of them, but the House Testimony and the subsequent verification has literally made me ill at the loss of American freedoms taken by HOA Boards in Kansas.

Here is how Section 20(c) would then read: "The remedies provided by this act shall be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully preformed. The court may shall award reasonable attorney fees and costs." I invite Professor (Dean) Davis' comments on February 9, 2010.

I have some direct comments about issues under the act considered. Section 19; **Budgets** should be required in November with proposed rates noticed in early December each year, rather than forcing members to try to un-ring a bell under oppressive dues rates already in effect. However, if proper requirements under the Kansas Apartment Ownership Act setting controls are enforced then the remedy exists under K.S.A 60-907(a) **Illegal Assessment**. There needs to be direct reference that HOA's are quasi-public boards (i.e. empowered by statute to levy assessments).

Section 8, Loans; is dangerously low as to percentages of member votes to pass authority to borrow. Remember this is one Board committing to the expense of future boards during the terms of the loan. It can be abused and there is devastating impact when a Board opts to borrow rather than a proper special assessment (Chisholm Creek siding project). It can cripple a community for decades.

Section 11 & 12 Member forum; these are crucial sections' dealing with requirements to discuss needs before it grows to out-of-control disputes. Several Boards have felt superior to the "poor masses" and simple eliminated that opportunity and use of "their" time, forgetting who owns the property. In that same vein, the requirement of availability of materials to members at meetings (or before) is important also; without it the discussions sound as if they were spoken in ancient "Hebrew".

Section 14, Voting; very well crafted and essential; this clarification is very much needed.

Section 15, **Records**; at least quarterly financial reports to members should be a base, or required to be available as they are distributed to Board members (which ever is shorter). I take umbrage with the "10 day" provision, understanding full well the pragmatic problems for smaller associations. However, when the questions are of honest dealings by those that control the records, giving them ten days to alter or destroy incriminating records that belong to the members, is just too much. The current law, K.S.A. 58-3120 allows surprise inspections or examinations, since the records are there for the protection of the members and they own them, it is hard to understand this weakness in this act. Additionally, electronic records should be available to members in electronic (accessible) formats. Making life miserable for those seeking records has become a power game with more than one Board I have experienced.

Section 17, Notice; A method of notice TO association Boards must be required also.

Section 18, Removal; See comments above (heading - Directors) there would seem to be a benefit of a phrase require rudimentary administrative due process; or simply setting out: having charges in advance and the ability to present witness and exhibits, cross-examination and a written decision, etc.

Finally, when a Director treats an association as his alter ego, the Kansas provisions for busting corporate protection, added to the immunity statute for volunteers, effectively means there is little anyone can do to slow down a despot. (See below) I tend to agree with the last paragraph in the ULC comment and think this area needs work.

I have put my parting thought below, which I ask to be provided to every committee member.

Sincerely,

Jerry L. Berg

Jerry L. Berg, 8201 E. Harry, Condo #2201, Wichita, Ks 67207 (316) 682-0936, cell 210-5856; jerry.berg1@cox.net

Senate Committee on Local Government Testimony on Uniform Common Owners Interest Bill of Rights Act Subject: Testimony of Harry Bonet Re: SB 470

Senators:

After having attended the House Committee Meeting, same subject, I will attend the Senate Hearing on this matter, and would like to submit my statement on this matter.

As has previously been stated, at the Wichita Cedar Lakes Village Condominium Association (CLVCA) we Homeowners face a desperate situation with our Board of Directors, (with the exception of Sylvia McCombs) but especially as to the President of the BoD, Jon Frobish a State of Kansas Administrative Law Judge.

To give you a better insight as to how one person can flaunt the Rules of an HOA and the Kansas Statutes, I shall give you an excerpt from the background of this person, while serving in the US ARMY in the Judge Advocate's Office, from his Army records, made public by his failed lawsuit against the U.S. Army.

"From May 10, 1987, to December 15, 1988, the plaintiff, an officer and attorney on active duty in the United States Army Judge Advocate General's Corps, was assigned as Officer in Charge of the V Corps, Legal Services Branch, at Wildflecken, Federal Republic of Germany. ... As an additional duty, beginning on August 11, 1987, plaintiff was assigned as the Ethics Counselor for his local community. As an Ethics Counselor, it was plaintiff's job to advise employees on standards of conduct in the Army. As the Officer in Charge of the V Corps, Legal Services Branch Office, plaintiff was responsible for supervising and evaluating several military and civilian personnel. Although separated from his wife who was on active duty and stationed in Bad Kitzingen in the Federal Republic of Germany, plaintiff was still legally married and resided in off-post housing during the relevant time."

"On December 29, 1988, based upon the findings of the AR 15-6 investigation, Major General Donald E. Eckelbarger, Deputy Commanding General, V Corps, issued plaintiff a General Officer Memorandum of Reprimand ("GOMOR") for his unprofessional conduct. In light of the attendant circumstances exhibited a gross lack of judgment and severely compromised your qualifications to continue to serve as the Officer in Charge of the Wildflecken Branch of the Office of the Staff Judge Advocate, V Corps."

1

Senate Local Government	
2-15-2010	

Attachment	7	

"2. Accordingly, you are reprimanded for your unprofessional conduct. It is extremely disheartening to find officers who have not learned that such associations have a deleterious impact on discipline and morale and they should be zealously avoided. Your failure to maintain the standard of professionalism expected of commissioned officers has brought discredit to this command. Future misconduct will not be tolerated."

"The Officer Evaluation Report rated plaintiff's 'display of sound judgment' as a "5," the lowest rating available and, as a comment to this rating, it was stated that plaintiff '[e]xercised extremely poor judgment by fraternizing with one of his female subordinates in his off-post quarters.' The OER also states as follows:

This misconduct caused me to lose confidence in his judgment....

I do not believe this officer has any future potential in the Army."

Frobish even admitted, and quoting again from US Army Records:

"Plaintiff has labeled his conduct as "incredibly stupid," "totally incompatible with the Army," "bad judgment," and as placing himself "in a position that [made] him look bad."

Yet, in this same record, tried to excuse this behaviour as;

"This OER is just the last action in a line originally designed by my ex-wife to embarrass and ruin me."

Frobish resigned and was employed by the Kansas Government as an Administrative Judge (Hearing Officer). Did the KS Gov't know of his previous Army Offence? Would you hire such a person?

Frobish subsequently sued the U.S. Army and lost. Now Frobish is really outraged. He then moves to Wichita and is elected CLVCA BoD Pres., without our knowledge of his past.

Is this the reason why he has, and still is, seeking revenge? Why should the CLVCA Homeowners have to suffer? We have no rights against such a man, as the law now exists.

We need stringent laws to prevent such destructive behavior; we need a Bill of Rights, I would suggest that the following be incorporated in SB 470:

1. Do not allow "Special Meetings" -----with the exceptions as outlined in SB 470----- without 3 days notice to Homeowners and their right to attend such Meetings. Failure to do this should result in punitive actions to the Bod.

Many Special Meetings have been conducted without any notice to Members, under the guise of "Executive Sessions", with only the BoD invited/in attendance. This is tantamount to "secret meetings" and allows the BoD to act in their own best interests and not that of the Homeowners.

2. Publication of Minutes

All Meetings conducted by the HOA, regardless of type or purpose, should be posted on the HOA property within 3 days of Meeting adjournment.

3. Access to HOA Records

All business conducted by or on behalf of the HOA, should be properly documented and allowed access to by the HOA Members within 24 hours. HOA members should only be required to give the Keeper of the Business Records 24 hrs notice of the need to inspect such records. Failure by the Keeper of the Business Records to allow such inspections should be punishable by law. These are our record about our homes, we must have access.

4. Filing of Lawsuits by any Member of an HOA BoD

Any Member of an HOA BoD should not be allowed to bring and file a Lawsuit against any HOA Owner, without the approval of 2/3 majority of the BoD. Failure to do so will render such lawsuit(s) as null and void, and a personal liability of such an illegal actor.

I strongly support this Senate Bill #470 as a Bill of Rights for Us, as hope for those of us that have no hope now. Please pass this legislation and strongly consider making it more enforceable with these suggestions.

Harry Bonet February 10, 2010

February 15, 2010

To: The Honorable Roger Reitz, Chairperson Senate Committee on Local Government Statehouse, Room 235-E Topeka, Kansas 66612

From: William N. (Bill) Reavis 10995 Gillette Overland Park, Kansas 66210

Subject SB-470 and HB-2472

Presented as an individual homeowner and resident of Quivira Falls

I am also a member and officer of the Board of Directors of

Quivira Falls Community Association, Overland Park, Kansas

Purpose:

<u>Introduction and Part 1</u> - To express my support, with certain qualification and comment, for the Kansas Uniform Common Interest Owner's Bill of Rights Act, SB-470 and HB-2472.

<u>Part 2</u> - To comment on the initial assemblage that led to the original bill, HB-2253 and subsequently to SB-470 and HB-2472 and rebuttal to previous testimony for this Act.

Introduction

I fully support the need for a bill of this nature. I think statewide legislation is essential to the uniformity of ethical and legal governance of homeowners' associations and the members of those associations. I approve of the adoption of common, state legislation specific to homeowners' associations. I support this bill as qualified in Part-1 below.

I believe that a comprehensive state statute dealing specifically with homeowner associations, expressed here as "common interest communities", is needed in Kansas. Currently the statutes that regulate homeowner associations are scattered throughout Kansas Law and are, for the most part, only peripherally applicable to homeowner associations by amendment, interpretation, judicial opinion or application of civil law to specific actions or needs not specifically homeowner association related.

Senate Local Government			
2-15-2010			
Attachment	8		

ì

Most homeowner associations are overseen by residents elected to a Board of Directors, who volunteer their time to perform a service they are not particularly trained for nor have the experience to perform. Set against these volunteers are homeowners who, many times, are not aware of or simply choose to disregard their responsibilities as members of a homeowners' association and/or have expectations beyond the scope, ability, and financial resources of the governing Association. Negligence, ignorance of the governing documents, misunderstanding, misinterpretation, misinformation and general bullying from both the Board of Directors and members of an Association is the source of friction and distraction within any association. An easily followed and understood, dedicated statute is a fundamental element in the resolution of many of the personal disputes and legal issues inherent in the governance of common interest communities. As written, I do not believe this Act is as coherent as it could be. One improvement would be to add Titles that provide the content to the Section headings. Another would be to be consistent with the use of the words "shall" and "may" or at least define them in Section 2.

Such a statute should recognize the rights, obligations, and responsibilities of both the Board of Directors <u>and</u> the members of the association. A Board of Directors is elected by members to oversee an association and should be allowed to do so. Homeowners are members of a homeowners' association by virtue of their ownership of a home within an association. They should be allowed to speak and be heard on any common or personal issue and have access to the records of their association. Members should not have the right to govern as individuals. The governing documents and the established policies and procedures are put in place for the purpose of governing through an elected Board of Directors.

Part 1: Support with Qualifications

That said, I support the need for and general content of SB-470 and HB-2472 with the above comments and the following specific qualifications.

Section 8,a,6,B - page 4, line 16 The association shall (6) have the power to suspend any right or privilege of a unit owner that fails to pay an assessment, but may not: (B) suspend a unit owner's right to vote"

In our association the association pays, out of the monthly dues, trash pick-up, care and maintenance of common ground, area lighting, waste water and water expenses of attached units, snow removal, and tree and shrub care and trimming. These are expenses that are paid regardless of individuals paying their dues or not. To have to continue to provide these services to non-dues paying members of the association and then to allow them the right to vote on association interests is wrong. If I may turn a phrase, Representation without

Taxation is as tyrannical today as Taxation without Representation was two-hundred and twenty-five years ago.

Section 15, e - page 12, lines 32-3 Copied records may be used for any reasonable purposes other than for commercial purposes.

KSA 17-6510 states that "A proper purpose shall mean a purpose reasonably related to such a person's interest as a stockholder" A stockholder as defined in this statute, is "also a member of a nonstock corporation as reflected on the records of the nonstock corporation." In addition, the statute includes "Any stockholder, in person or by attorney or other agent, upon written demand <u>under oath</u> stating the purpose thereof, shall have the right during the usual hours for business to inspect for any proper purpose, and to make copies and extracts from: (1) the corporation's stock ledger, a list of its stockholders, and its other books and records", and "under oath includes statements the declarant affirms to be true under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States or any state".

Requesting the viewing and making copies of Association Books and Records should carry some responsibilities. It is not correct or acceptable to simply release the Books and Records for an undefined "reasonable purpose" that holds a receiving member totally unaccountable unless they are used for a commercial purpose. The only conceivable commercial purpose that I can think of is the sale of the association mailing list.

Section 20, c - lines 10-2 The remedies provided by this act shall be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party is put in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed.

This is not reconciled with Section 8,a,6,c "the association shall have the power to suspend any right or privilege of a unit owner that fails to pay an assessment, but may not: (C) withhold services provided to a unit or unit owner if the effect of withholding the service would be to endanger the health, safety, or property of any person". If the suspended service does not endanger the health, safety, or property of any person, does "as good a position as if the other party had fully performed" begin when a past due assessment is paid or when the unit owner stopped paying his assessment? If the aggrieved party is the Association in a dispute over non-compliance of Covenants, By-Laws, procedure or policy does this mean that the Association can demand total compliance from the offending member at the member's expense? Small points but this Section is what I would call a lawsuit waiting to happen.

Section 22 - line 21-3 I see no reason to include this section other than as a promotion for the adoption of a Uniform Common Interest Owner's Bill of Rights Act to other jurisdictions outside of Kansas.

Part 2: Comments and Rebuttal

I have several comments pertaining to the origination of SB-470 and HB-2472. As I understand it this bill has its origins in SB-609 in 2008 and HB-2253 in 2009 and was reintroduced as SB-470 and HB-2472 in 2010. The initial testimony in March of 2009 for HB-2253 was, or appeared to be, a litany by twelve proponents of the extremely one sided HB-2253, from the Quivira Falls Community in Overland Park, Kansas. All twelve were identified as homeowners in Quivira Falls. Three do not appear on any association records as homeowners in Quivira Falls. Three ran for the Board of Directors in the June 2008 association election and were defeated by nearly a four to one margin in the highest election turnout in over twenty years. None of this group chose to run in the 2009 election.

I give credit to those from the Quivira Falls Community who have been involved with this bill and were involved in the initial protests in the summer of 2007 against the Association then in place. The protest group was against the abuses and mismanagement caused in part and encouraged by a general lack of interest or involvement in the community by members of the community over the previous twenty some years. However, the interest of this group has remained consistent to their initial goal, the removal of the elected members of the Board of Directors. A constant barrage of false allegations, half truths, innuendo, disruptions of Board of Director meetings and elections has continued to this day. Nothing positive, neither comments nor solutions have ever been offered by this group.

The recorded testimony of the three homeowners at the March 2009 committee meeting are incomplete or wrong in fact and presents a distorted view of the progress the community has made since the July 2008 elections.

Specifically concerning:

Audit: By the time of the March hearing there had been a Special Engagement review by a CPA firm of the finances of the fiscal year July 2007-June 2008. A complete audit of the years between 1999 and 2007 would have been extraordinarily expensive and probably impossible due to the disarray of the available records. The Special Engagement found no financial irregularities or theft of funds. The Special Engagement did find terrible bookkeeping, poor management, lack of accountability, and a culture of information containment, but no maleficent activity. A regular CPA audit was undertaken for the last six months of 2008 and presented at the annual meeting in June 2009. It was noted to be a clean and accurate audit. Note: the association changed from a July-

June fiscal year to a calendar fiscal year beginning January 2009. A 2009 audit has been ordered and will be available in June.

<u>Debt:</u> The new Board of Directors, in July and August 2008, did find excessive debt and immediately began to address it. By the summer of 2009 the debts had been paid down with the exception of one which is being paid according to a contracted payment schedule initiated in August 2008. All debts that were past due in the summer of 2008 will be retired by May 2010.

Maintenance: There has been repeated reference to Quivira Falls being a "maintenance-provided" and "maintenance-free" community. Quivira Falls is not a "maintenance-free" community. The Association is charged by its Declaration of Covenants to provide common ground and exterior unit maintenance. Deferred maintenance was an issue that had grown out of control for various reasons prior to the summer of 2008. Excessive woodrot was and is the main result. In the early fall of 2008 the Association began working with and under the guidance of the City of Overland Park to correct the woodrot issues over a two year period. That agreement was in place before, during and after the testimony given in March 2009. That program is on schedule for completion in the summer of 2010.

<u>Fences</u>: The Association had one major fence related issue in 2006-2007 and has had one major fence related issue since the summer of 2008. Both were directly related to non-compliance with the Declaration of Covenants' and Association By-Laws restrictions covering the kind of wood, the height, and the width specifications of fence pickets. In both cases the fence was replaced without the prior approval of the Architectural Control Committee as required by the Declaration of Covenants of the Association.

In summary, the persons representing themselves as members of the Quivira Falls Community and providing verbal and written testimony to the Committee in March 2009 were, in my opinion, self-serving, very selective of facts, and mired down in the summer of 2007. Also, even though most of the testimony was provided by a few members of the Quivira Falls Community, there was no apparent effort to inform anyone outside of that small group of the hearing in March, the additional hearings through the following summer and fall, or during the compilation of the two bills being readied for the legislature in early 2010. This is particularly disturbing to me since one of the members of the Homeowners' Association Advisory Committee is a Quivira Falls resident and has been a very active participant in disparagement of the progress that has taken place in Quivira Falls since July 2008. Another member of the committee represents this district in the Kansas Senate.

February 10, 2010

To: Senator Roger Reitz, Committee Chair Person Senator Susan Wagle, Committee Vice-Chair Person Senator Kelly Kultala, Ranking Minority Member

From:
Phillip Lytle
12319 W. 129th Terrace
Overland Park, KS 66213

RE: SB 470

I am writing to support this bill as a Kansas resident owning two real estate properties governed by homes associations.

My first property is located in Quivira Falls in Overland Park. Having ownership of property within this community since 1976, I feel I have greater insight than many of the owner/residents and landlords that own in this area. I have experienced a tremendous increase in dues over the years and the exact opposite in the value of my property. The location of this community is ideal. However, the board members have been running the area like a private government with a dictator(s) on the board. These people appear to have no regard for the maintenance of the homes but are focused fully on spending money on unnecessary amenities considering the condition and lack of maintenance on the homes. While this is sold as a maintenance provided planned unit development it is far from that in reality.

When residents question the board about much of anything they either go into executive session board meetings, hold no board meetings, or take revenge on those residents with threats of one nature or another; including but not limited to legal action. I have become very disgruntled with their lack of professionalism. The last meeting I attended they were discussing ways to penalize residents over their fences using the color of their skin; whether the homeowner was black or Caucasian as to how they would react. At that point, I walked out of the meeting and have not attended any since. I do read their mailings and newsletters and it's clear they are trying to impose stricter covenants at the same time using their newsletter to try and discredit those in the community that are trying to bring transparency and responsible governing to the association. It appears they are trying to deny the homeowners of their First Amendment Rights.

Additionally, the board has contracted with a property management company and after seeing their management style for eighteen months I can't see anything positive from them. They have spent money on the pools and clubhouse which makes it nice when I'm offering my property for rent, but does nothing to remove the wood rot and peeling paint

Senate Local Government		

on my unit. Potential buyers and mortgage companies aren't interested in pools, tennis courts, and clubhouses. They become very skeptical of houses with wood rot, peeling paint, streets that are deteriorated, and multiple lawsuits pending at the courthouse.

I would prefer to have audits added to SB 470 simply because without them it is impossible for homeowners to know where the money is being spent. Quivira Falls has over one million dollars per year flowing in and out with no audit and that has proven disastrous with over ten million dollars unaccounted for since 1999. Today, they claim proper handling of funds due to the management company, but things can and do change therefore, an audit by a licensed CPA is the only sure way of proper accounting for these funds.

My personal residence is located in Nottingham On The Green in Overland Park which I have owned for eighteen years. I do not have concerns about the current board and their governing abilities. Therefore after reading SB 470 I have no qualms that it would interfere with their management but would provide a "safety net" should it ever be needed. I recognize this community to be governed primarily by business owners and those who are accustomed to being upfront and honorable.

I feel this bill for members of homes associations in Kansas is overdue. I greatly appreciate the efforts of our Kansas legislators working towards passing this bill which I believe will make living conditions better for those who are suffering now and have no effect on those who are operating with integrity.

To:

The Honorable Senator Roger Reitz, Committee Chair Person The Honorable Senator Susan Wagle, Committee Vice-Chair Person The Honorable Senator Kelly Kultala, Ranking Minority Member

RE: SB 470

From: Carol Kleweno - Willowbrooke Villas, an originally planned community of 37 single story, 4 plex units for a total of 148 residences. Monthly dues are \$185 per homeowner.

In 2004 I began looking for an older ranch home in the Johnson County area. After several failed inspections I purchased my home in Willowbrooke in 2005 since it had a reputable builder, B.L. Rieke. The units were brand new with a builder warranty, complete maintenance, insurance coverage of the exterior and as the Covenants stated restrictions to preserve the value of the Units.

With 72 occupied units, the association was receiving over \$13,000 per month. Many of the areas of the Covenants were not being addressed and we were told by the management company, The Neighborhood Group, that there wasn't enough money to cover expenses. We made several requests to meet with the developer, Joe Campbell, to discuss our concerns. Joe was unresponsive and when he would allow a meeting he limited the number of homeowners to no more than 3 persons. The last financial reporting we had received was in October of 2008

The homeowners are now involved in a lawsuit against Willowbrooke Villas Homes LLC, Stonewood Builders LLC, Willowbrooke Investments LLC and Rockwood at Prairie Highlands LLC for over \$38,000 in missing dues paid by our homeowners. On February 5th, 2010 we were informed that our management company would no longer be handling our home issues as the developer was six months behind in payments from our developer.

Mid-way through the development of our community Joe Campbell received approval from the City Planning Committee to instead build multi-story units. These units are now being rented primarily to college students since he advertised at his web site "Spacious townhome living for under 300 dollars per month!! Two story homes available for \$1450 a month—that's only \$290/mo each with 5 occupants." By changing our community to a partial rental area, the appearance of our area has greatly declined and we now have 10 new homes in foreclosure.

Last I would like to address the areas that are not being provided by the association although they are listed as being responsible in the Covenants:

- "Snow removal for the Private streets and for driveways, front yard sidewalks and for front porches."
 Last week we were informed only the streets and steep driveways would have snow removed.
- "The repair and replacement of roofs" Currently 20 homes have leaks that need repair although this is even covered by our insurance.
- "Provide and pay for the costs of spring start-up, winterization and repair, maintenance and water for the use of a common sprinkler system." For the previous two years we have had limited areas of sprinklers as we were informed the repairs could not be afforded. This meant the loss of several trees and bushes which have not been replaced.
- "Establish, maintain and expend reserve funds for the future repair and replacement of the Private Streets and other Common Areas." Our streets and sidewalks are greatly in need of repair and have not been addressed.

As residents in these types of communities we need more legal protection to avoid these common issues and paying for unnecessary lawsuits. Thank you for your time.

Senate Local Government

LAW OFFICES

SLAGLE, BERNARD & GORMAN

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
— Since 1919 —

600 PLAZA WEST BUILDING 4600 MADISON AVENUE

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64112-3031

TELEPHONE (816) 410-4600

FAX (816) 561-4498

JAMES H. BERNARD
KENNETH I. FLIGG, JR. "
RICHARD F. ADAMS
GERALD W. GORMAN
ROGER T. HURWITZ
ERNEST N. YARNEVICH, JR.
DOUGLAS N. GHERTNER
STANLEY N. WILKINS"
JAMES R. MUELLER
JAMES H. BERNARD, JR.
THOMAS L. LASLEY
VINCENT L. GUALTIER
ROD HOFFMAN"

STEPHEN P. HORN
RICHARD H. WAGSTAFF, III*
DAVID G. WATKINS
ROBERT A. STOPPERAN*
KATHERINE L. O'CONNOR*
JONATHAN N. DILLY*
AMY L. JOHNSON*

FRANK B.W. MCCOLLUM*

WARREN E. SLAGLE

"ADMITTED IN MISSOURI AND KANSAS

February 11, 2010

Via FedEx (785) 296-7360
Senator Roger Reitz
Chairman, Local Government Committee
Kansas Legislature, Room 144-S
Kansas State Capitol
300 SW 10th St.
Topeka, Kansas 66612

Re: Senate Bill 470

Dear Senator Reitz:

I am writing about Senate Bill No. 470 introduced to your committee to provide some regulation of common interest communities. Thank you for your consideration.

Enclosed is a copy of my recent letter to the Local Government Committee of the House of Representatives of the identical bill. My overriding concern is that this bill will not provide hoped for solutions for the following reasons:

- The bill is untested. It has been drafted by a national committee, but no state has adopted it.
- Simply because it is a uniform law it does not make it good or necessary. Dozens of proposed uniform laws have not been adopted by Kansas or other states.
- All homeowners already have the most important and absolute right in every community association the right to vote. If they are not satisfied with the directors, homeowners can recall them at a special meeting or elect new ones at the next election.
- No one has estimate of the possible hundreds of thousands of Kansans this will affect.

DOCS-398395.1

Senate Local Government

Attachment ______

SLAGLE, BERNARD & GORMAN

Senator Roger Reitz February 11, 2010 Page 2

- This bill will not address outdated laws in Kansas that create and govern many common interest communities. The statute creating condominiums was adopted in 1963. The townhome statute was adopted in 1975.
- This bill is confusing. Most common interest communities in Kansas consist solely of stand alone homes in residential subdivisions. But the word "home" is absent from this bill. My homes association in Lenexa has an annual budget of \$8,000. Does this bill apply?
- There are thousands of homes associations in Kansas, but less than a handful are seeking any legislative remedy.

Thank you for your consideration.

Sincerely,

Rod Hoffman

RJH/dfc

Enclosure - (doc. 375838)

LAW OFFICES

SLAGLE, BERNARD & GORMAN

A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
— Since 1919 —

600 PLAZA WEST BUILDING 4600 MADISON AVENUE

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 64112-3031

TELEPHONE (816) 410-4600

FAX (816) 561-4498

JAMES H. BERNARD
KENNETH I. FLIGG, JR.*
RICHARD F. ADAMS
GERALD W. GORMAN
ROGER T. HURWITZ
ERNEST N. YARNEVICH, JR.
DOUGLAS N. GHERTNER
STANLEY N. WILKINS*
JAMES R. MUELLER
JAMES H. BERNARD, JR.
THOMAS L. LASLEY
VINCENT L. GUALTIER
ROD HOFFMAN*

STEPHEN P. HORN
RICHARD H. WAGSTAFF, III*
DAVID G. WATKINS
ROBERT A. STOPPERAN*
KATHERINE L. O'CONNOR*
JONATHAN N. DILLY*
AMY L. JOHNSON*

FRANK B.W. MCCOLLUM*

WARREN E. SLAGLE

"ADMITTED IN MISSOURI AND KANSAS

Ms. Sharon Schwartz Chair, Local Government Committee House of Representatives, Room 149-S Kansas State Capitol 300 SW 10th Street Topeka, KS 66612

Re: House Bill No. 2472

Dear Ms. Schwartz:

I am writing about House Bill No. 2472 recently introduced to your committee to provide some regulation of common interest communities. Thank you for your consideration.

In most parts of Kansas, homes associations are rare, but they have existed in the Kansas City area for nearly 100 years. Their operation has been so successful and important to home buyers that real estate developers seldom create new residential subdivisions without establishing a common interest community, often called homes associations. Today there are hundreds of active associations in my adopted home of Johnson County. Many are assisted by professional property managers. My parents live in Garden City, where there are perhaps three or four associations. It's only a guess, but I suspect that this proposed legislation, if adopted, would affect hundreds of thousands of Kansans.

In my law practice, I have the opportunity to represent more than 150 home owner controlled homes associations. They are condominium projects, town homes communities and subdivisions of single family homes. They range in size from 16 homes to more than 500. Some have swimming pools with beautiful clubhouses. Some have only a monument at the entrance to their neighborhood. With their boards of directors, I advise associations about the meaning of their governing documents and help them enforce restrictive covenants. Their goals are universally the same—maintain the livability of their neighborhoods and their home values.

You may remember that I contacted you last year about 2009 House Bill 2253. In my correspondence to you, I suggested that your committee consider reviewing the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA) as a substitute to last year's proposal. Certainly, the bill before you is a substantial improvement

DOCS-375838.1



over HB 2253. However, I still believe your committee should study UCIOA or its related acts for several reasons, which I'll explain below. Also, I want to offer some comments about HB 2472.

As you know, no state has adopted this Bill of Rights. Of course, it is fairly new, but its lack of acceptance by any state is worthy of your attention. I'm not here to attack the proposed Bill of Rights, which is a common sense approach to many issues that affect homes associations. However, in comparison to UCIOA and related acts, this Bill of Rights is "UCIOA Lite."

Please don't construe my comments as any criticism of the committee of the Judicial Council that studied these bills. I observed one of their meetings. Their thoughtful study and editing of the Bill of Rights created a worthwhile product. But the committee didn't investigate the scope of any so-called problem with Kansas homes associations. Rather, it appears than one or two absolutely dreadful and neglected situations are driving this process. In my experience, these situations didn't arise because adequate laws weren't enacted to protect homeowners. Homes associations are small democratic institutions, even without legislation in place to protect home owners. Apathy is the biggest enemy of homes associations. Just two months ago, no one bothered to attend the annual meeting of a large homes association in Overland Park. A Bill of Rights isn't necessary if owners become actively engaged as home owners. If they don't become active, a Bill of Rights isn't enough. Before you make a final decision on this proposal, I encourage you to visit with a larger number of persons involved in homes associations. There are dozens of professional managers who work full time for homes associations. They know the ABCs of homes associations. Also consider talking to directors of active associations and especially to directors in newly built condominium or townhome associations.

In my opinion, your attention should be directed to modernizing the statutes that authorize creation of condominiums and town homes. The Apartment Ownership Act, which allows condominiums, was enacted in 1963, when condominiums were novel home ownership concept. Today, the statute is a dinosaur in comparison to similar statutes in nearly every state. The Townhome statute was adopted in 1975. Today both of these types of homes are highly popular. Again, I'm speculating, but I'll bet if you've heard complaints from constituents about homes associations, many of those problems originated during construction of the projects or while the developer remained in control of the home owners association. After the developer turns over control of the association to homeowners, association often receive blame for problems that they didn't create. The condo and townhome statutes should be updated to provide clear delineation of responsibilities of developers to home buyers and to homes associations. The Bill of Rights only indirectly addresses the so-called time frame of "developer control" of homes association. The draft uniform laws are very helpful on these issues.

--In addition to two statutes cited above, there are at least six additional Kansas statutes that regulate operations of homes associations or enforcement of restrictive covenants. It would be extremely helpful if all were consolidated or, at a minimum, cross referenced in one location.

Finally, let me address a few points about HB 2472:



--As I mentioned, apathy is a major problem for homes associations. Section 8 requires a majority of votes in an association before the association may borrow money. A better method would be to require a majority of the quorum defined in the association's governing documents.

--Undirected proxies are common. And proxies are important to achieve quorum requirements. Usually these are given to the current directors. Section 14 says person may not cast undirected proxies representing more that 15 percent of the voters in the association. This proposed section may create confusion when directors are given these proxies.

--Assessments are the lifeblood of associations. They cannot perform their obligations unless everyone pays. Especially in small associations, it isn't fair to homeowners who pay to provide services to owners who don't pay. Many associations provide services including trash removal to owners. For delinquent owners, these associations often discontinue trash service. It sounds harsh but this often encourages prompt payment. But Section 8 appears to prohibit this practice. This prohibition and others in the HB 2472 raises a question based on the U.S. Constitution. Article I of the Constitution provides that states may not enact laws impairing the obligations of contracts. In Kansas and all states, declarations of restrictions and homes association declarations are contracts among all property owners that are subject to the declarations. Why should this bill override declarations that were accepted by homebuyers before they moved into their subdivisions.

-- There are no penalties for violation of this bill.

--Section 15 of the bill appears to require committees to maintain records of all actions. Many associations have social committees who plan small events such as a picnic. This bill doesn't distinguish between their roles compared to the important review process of Architectural Review Committees.

Thank you for all of your efforts on this bill and everything that you do this session.

Sincerely,

(signed) ROD HOFFMAN

Rod Hoffman